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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  This meeting

          3  of the General Welfare Committee is now called to

          4  order.  I would like to start by welcoming Member of

          5  the Committee, Council Member Annabel Palma, and I

          6  apologize that we're getting off a little bit late

          7  today.  I would like to also thank members of the

          8  staff who put together today's hearing, our Counsel

          9  Molly Murphy, our Policy Analyst Freya Riel, and

         10  Erin Feinstein, as well.

         11                 Today we are here to talk about some

         12  major changes that have been made in the

         13  Administration policy related to the homeless.  And

         14  I think it's fair to say that these changes have

         15  generated tremendous interest, in some cases

         16  hopefulness and some cases concern, but there's no

         17  doubt that this is a very important moment in the

         18  what has now been almost a 30-year struggle to deal

         19  with the challenge of homelessness in our City.

         20  Obviously the recent announcement related to the

         21  alteration of the former Housing Stability Plus

         22  Program and the replacement by the new Work

         23  Advantage Program, and we're going to hear today

         24  from Commissioner Hess as to the approach he hopes

         25  to take in this new program.
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          2                 I want to frame for a moment some of

          3  the history and some of the work this Committee has

          4  done on this issue that has lead us to have a series

          5  of concerns and a series of particular hopes and

          6  ideas about what would work as we struggle to

          7  prevent homelessness.  I'd also like to say at the

          8  beginning that one thing that I've always felt very

          9  positive about is the fact that in June, 2004, the

         10  Mayor announced a plan to actually reduce street

         11  homelessness and reduce the shelter sensus by two-

         12  thirds by the end of his term, that's something that

         13  I have often said is truly admirable because the

         14  Mayor claimed responsibility for the issue and set a

         15  very aggressive goal and that's something I think is

         16  one of the was we actually get government to work

         17  and to focus and to move resources where they're

         18  needed.  So from the outset I would say despite some

         19  concerns I'm going to express today I really do want

         20  to continue to commend the Administration for

         21  sticking to that goal.

         22                 Now around that same time, a little

         23  after that time, the Housing Stability Plus program

         24  was announced.  As someone in my particular career

         25  who worked for the U.S. Department of Housing and
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          2  Urban Development, I was struck from the beginning

          3  by the novel nature of HSP as an individual City's

          4  attempt, a municipal attempt to play some of the

          5  roll that Section 8 had always played on the federal

          6  level and I think it was very much a response to the

          7  fact that Section 8 program had stalled and was not

          8  growing, particularly during the republican

          9  congress, and that City's, localities, and States

         10  were left with very few options.  So I think the

         11  impetus that lead to the creation of HSP program was

         12  a very good one.  From day one, I and a number of

         13  other Members of Council raised serious concerns

         14  about HSP.  Particularly the fact that the subsidy

         15  level steps down over the course of five years and

         16  there was a broad feeling that that particular

         17  element of the plan, plus other elements of the plan

         18  that might function as a disincentive to work were

         19  problematic.  A lot of that concern came out of the

         20  hearing we had in December of 2004.

         21                 We had a follow- up hearing in April,

         22  2006, and at that point felt, I think all of us on

         23  the Committee, even more strongly that there were

         24  continuing problems with HSP again despite the

         25  nobile intent.  We heard a particularly troubling

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  case of one individual who was caught in the dilemma

          3  of the HSP program, so much so that her own

          4  caseworker recommended to her that she had to quit a

          5  job she had gotten to be able to stay on public

          6  assistance and continue with HSP.  So in effect,

          7  that kind of situation we felt was creating the

          8  reverse of what maybe the original intent had been

          9  of the policy and led to the continued concerns

         10  about how HSP could be altered or fundamentally

         11  changed going forward.  At the same time a number of

         12  issues came up related to the quality of the unit

         13  that the City was paying for.  This has been an on-

         14  going issue that we raised at DHS and other

         15  agencies, and obviously it was clear that some units

         16  had very serious problems, hazardous conditions,

         17  even lead paint violations, and that the City was

         18  paying to have tenants in those apartments was

         19  fundamentally problematic.

         20                 Now as HSP has continued along I

         21  think it's fair to say that whatever successes have

         22  occurred, and I'm sure there have been some for

         23  individual families, the program at large has not

         24  achieved its numerical goals.  And more importantly

         25  the overall situation with the number of folks we
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          2  have, families we have in shelter, has not

          3  fundamentally improved.  In fact, there's been a

          4  increase the number of families in shelter.  And so

          5  it is not surprising to me that the Administration

          6  saw these same concerns and then just a couple of

          7  weeks ago came forward with the Work Advantage

          8  program.  Now just as I did at the initiation of

          9  HSP, I do want to acknowledge from the beginning

         10  what I think is admirable about the Work Advantage

         11  approach.  And I do want to thank the Commissioner,

         12  I think he's been very communicative with this

         13  Committee about how he wants to approach this

         14  program.  I think this is a valid effort by DHS to

         15  look at what didn't work with HSP and look at some

         16  other unintended consequences and try and find a

         17  different approach.  And most obviously I am very

         18  very happy that there is no step- down, no

         19  decreasing of subsidy in the Work Advantage program

         20  and that it is not tied in such a manner to public

         21  assistance that it can create a disincentive for

         22  work or other complications in the relationship with

         23  landlords.  I also think at large that the new plan

         24  the Commissioner has put forward focuses much more

         25  on prevention and I will not be entirely a broken
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          2  record, but I will say that the Council has focused

          3  for the last five years on prevention.  We've argued

          4  from day one, it's more humane, it's more cost

          5  effective, it's better for the client, it's better

          6  for the agency, it's better for the taxpayer, I do

          7  think the Administration has slowly but surely moved

          8  more in the direction of prevention.  Certainly this

          9  new plan suggests that and we appreciate that.

         10                 At the same time, I think there's

         11  been a course of concern and for very obvious

         12  reasons around the new plan, the Work Advantage

         13  plan, because to the naked eye it appears that the

         14  Administration takes the position that many, many

         15  people who are now having trouble with

         16  self-sufficiency could reach self-sufficiency in a

         17  span of two years or less.  And I think for a lot of

         18  us that represent communities, it's hard to believe

         19  with what we see going on in the housing market,

         20  what we see going on with rents in particular, and

         21  with stagnation in terms of wages, that it's hard to

         22  believe that that formula will work for a majority

         23  of the people who might become involved in this

         24  program.  I think we have very real concerns about

         25  how people who do not succeed despite good effort
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          2  will be treated after two years, what flexibility

          3  will show, what individuality will show towards

          4  families needs if we all share a goal of keeping

          5  families out of shelter and helping them toward

          6  self- sufficiency.

          7                 We also have concerns about how the

          8  various efforts at job training and job placement

          9  will be undertaken, and I'm glad that Deputy

         10  Commissioner Diamond of HRA is here, who is a

         11  frequent guest before this Committee.  And I think

         12  the Deputy Commissioner will not be surprised here

         13  that there's some things about HRA's approach that

         14  have been praised by all of us in the Council and

         15  other things that we have concerns about,

         16  particularly the ability to find lasting placements

         17  and to provide training that really fits the current

         18  workplace.  So I think the fact that the DHS plan

         19  relies upon HRA's ability to do that work is

         20  something that's raised concern and something we

         21  want to ask a number of questions about today.

         22                 I should also not that there are

         23  other elements of the plan.  We'll certainly hear

         24  from the Commissioner on the approach to a special

         25  needs population, on other elements of prevention

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  and aftercare, and on one area I think a lot of us

          3  have questions about, the "next step" shelter model

          4  for folks with particular challenges.  I think we

          5  want to understand how each of those approaches will

          6  work and as always want to understand how you handle

          7  individuals for whom the approach isn't working.

          8  But the bottom line is, we all share a profound

          9  desire to meet the Mayor's goal for the end of 2009,

         10  I think we all share a deep concern that the family

         11  shelter population has increased and increasingly we

         12  share a common commitment to prevention.  And so

         13  with that positive framing, we look forward to your

         14  testimony Commission, and Deputy Commissioner.

         15                 Let me note at the outset that we

         16  have also been joined by Council Member Jessica

         17  Lappin, who's coming back off an important mission

         18  having given birth not so long ago, welcome back,

         19  and Council Member Gale Brewer, and Commissioner

         20  Hess we welcome your testimony.

         21                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Thank you

         22  Chairman DeBlasio, Members of Council, I am Rob

         23  Hess, Commissioner of the Department of Homeless

         24  Services.  To might right, and that's not a

         25  political statement, is Deputy Commissioner Seth

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  Diamond from HRA.  We thank you for the opportunity

          3  to speak before you today and answer any questions

          4  you may have about the Department's new rental

          5  strategies that are designed to help clients move

          6  beyond shelter and in to transitional or permanent

          7  housing.  This exciting and innovative package of

          8  reforms, which we have named Advantage New York,

          9  rests on the notion that a one- size rental subsidy

         10  does not fit all people who are experiencing

         11  homelessness.  For this reason, Advantage New York

         12  encompasses varying rental subsidies designed to

         13  meet the varying needs and circumstances of our

         14  shelter clients.

         15                 DHS's comprehensive approach builds

         16  on the strengths of previous reforms and puts the

         17  Agency in a position to meet the goals set by Mayor

         18  Bloomberg's Five Year Action plan to reduce

         19  homelessness by two thirds by the end of 2009.  The

         20  centerpiece of our reform package is Work Advantage,

         21  a rental subsidy to help those in shelter secure

         22  permanent housing and reduce their reliance on

         23  public supports by rewarding clients who work.

         24                 To fully appreciate how comprehensive

         25  and innovative our new reform package is, let's go
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          2  back for a moment to 2004, when the City was faced

          3  with federal cuts to Section 8 and a resulting

          4  decline in the number of vouchers that were

          5  available.  This led DHS to develop Housing

          6  Stability Plus, as you mentioned earlier, a local

          7  rental supplement program to fill the void created

          8  by these federal cuts.  Like all other rental

          9  subsidies, HSP had its limitations.  First, the work

         10  supplement waiver that the City had anticipated and

         11  aggressively lobbied for, and would have allowed a

         12  family to continue HSP even if that family began

         13  earning too much money to continue receiving public

         14  assistance, never came to fruition.  Instead of

         15  rewarding work, HSP, created a disincentive to work.

         16                 Second, DHS expected a low rate of

         17  public assistance disruptions including sanctions

         18  and case closings based on the experience of

         19  Jiggets, another enhanced rental subsidy program

         20  tied to public assistance in which clients

         21  maintained a significantly higher rate of

         22  engagement.  We found instead a much higher rate of

         23  disruptions which resulted in landlords not

         24  receiving monthly rental payments.

         25                 Even with the unintended consequences
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          2  associated with HSP, it served the majority of

          3  clients extremely well.  Over 10,000 individuals and

          4  families moved into their own homes through HSP with

          5  only four percent returning to shelter.  HSP also

          6  proved to be more accessible and efficient than

          7  Section 8, with more families being eligible for the

          8  subsidy at any point in time and able to exit

          9  shelter far more quickly than under Section 8.  In

         10  fact, early in the program, more families were

         11  placed through HSP than any previous year utilizing

         12  Emergency Assistance Rental Program Section 8

         13  vouchers.

         14                 With the implementation of any new

         15  program, new information surfaces and opportunities

         16  arise to make modifications necessary to ensure that

         17  the program continues to meet the needs of those it

         18  is intended to serve.  Therefore, I spent the

         19  majority of last summer and fall meeting with

         20  hundreds of clients throughout the City to hear

         21  directly from them about how HSP was working, what

         22  their concerns were, and how to ensure their success

         23  in returning to the community and maintaining

         24  independence in permanent housing. Out of these

         25  discussions several themes emerged.  By and large,
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          2  clients told me they wanted to work to pay their own

          3  rent.  Most clients clearly recognized that

          4  temporary housing assistance is just that,

          5  temporary.  Other clients said they could not work

          6  due to disabilities and therefore needed more long-

          7  term assistance. And still others expressed the need

          8  for short- term assistance to help them rebound from

          9  a disruption in their lives such as the sudden loss

         10  of employment or a family member's illness.

         11                 I took our clients' concerns very

         12  seriously and began to work with my management team

         13  to craft new strategies that would address not only

         14  the limitations of HSP, but also provide a wider

         15  range of options to meet our clients' stated needs.

         16  And, DHS' new strategies do just that by expanding

         17  our efforts to prevent homelessness whenever

         18  possible; keeping families in their communities.

         19  Furthermore, DHS will continue to provide shelter

         20  when necessary, coupled with the support required to

         21  ensure that shelter stays are short- term and

         22  focused on stabilization and obtaining permanent

         23  housing; and by offering the right mix of exit

         24  strategies so that every individual or family that

         25  enters the system has a way back to the community,
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          2  has a way home.

          3                 It is clear to us that our work must

          4  begin before individuals or families become

          5  homeless.  As of the Summer of 2007, HomeBase, our

          6  nationally recognized homeless prevention program

          7  will be available Citywide, offering services such

          8  as a landlord mediation, household budgeting, legal

          9  services, and short- term financial assistance.  And

         10  I want to say here that I very much appreciate the

         11  thoughts and comments and recommendations and

         12  support of the Chairman when our prevention efforts

         13  that have allowed us to go from the six CD's that

         14  initially had HomeBase to taking this Citywide.

         15  It's been very helpful and we appreciate it. We've

         16  now taken prevention a step further.  Families who

         17  enter PATH, our intake center for families with

         18  children, will receive universal diversion services.

         19    Offered in partnership with HRA, this expanded

         20  effort will allow clients and social service staff

         21  an opportunity to look closely at a family's

         22  circumstances and needs and facilitate linkages to

         23  community resources.  We are extremely grateful to

         24  HRA and Commissioner Doar for their continued

         25  collaboration in this diversion effort.

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 But out prevention and diversion

          3  efforts do not end there either.  Not long ago we

          4  implemented a new diversion pilot at PATH.  The

          5  pilot targets families who are provided a

          6  conditional shelter placement pending DHS'

          7  investigation of their eligibility for shelter.

          8  HomeBase social workers visit these families while

          9  they are in conditional placement, review their

         10  circumstances and options, and help them develop a

         11  plan for returning to their community instead of

         12  entering shelter.

         13                 As strong as these preventive

         14  strategies are, we recognize that some families will

         15  need temporary, emergency shelter.  But let us be

         16  clear, this is and needs to be a new day at DHS.

         17  Under our new model, shelter is intended to serve a

         18  short term emergency purpose as a place of last

         19  resort.  A typical shelter stay should last about

         20  120 days with the first 90 days focused on support

         21  to stabilize individuals and families and to develop

         22  a shelter exit plan.  The next 30 days should be

         23  spent implementing an exit strategy made possible

         24  through Advantage New York, the City's new rental

         25  assistance program.
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          2                 Advantage New York provides a series

          3  of options to meet the varied needs of our clients.

          4  The program includes access to a comprehensive

          5  package that will support work and economic

          6  stability including jobs, workforce development, and

          7  transitional benefits such as food stamps, Medicare

          8  and child care.  Advantage recognizes that one size

          9  does not fit all and therefore also offers rental

         10  assistance for two special populations, individuals

         11  and families receiving benefits and who are on fixed

         12  income and families who have an active ACS case

         13  while in shelter.  But again, the emphasis is on

         14  work.  As Commissioner Doar stated, Work Advantage

         15  is consistent with the City's focus on work as the

         16  key ingredient to move out of poverty and invest in

         17  homeless families who work full time or part time by

         18  giving them the rent support they need to move

         19  toward independence.  Simply put, the programs

         20  rewards work, provides incentives to increase

         21  earnings and savings, promotes long- term

         22  independence and guarantees payments to the landlord

         23  of at least one and possibly two year's rent.

         24                 Families and individuals who receive

         25  federal benefits such as Supplemental Security
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          2  Income, or SSI, or SSDI, and families who are in

          3  shelter with an active ACS case will receive a

          4  rental subsidy under Fixed Income and Children's

          5  Advantage, respectively.  Our experience tells us

          6  that families with an open ACS case often need long-

          7  term support and stable housing to avoid breaking up

          8  the family unit, while family members or individuals

          9  with disabilities or other health issues often

         10  require specialized support in stable housing

         11  environment.  Both of these special needs groups

         12  will receive up to one year of rental assistance as

         13  well as support in applying for Section 8.  Clients

         14  will be required to locate and secure apartments

         15  that meet the guidelines for Section 8 and will be

         16  assisted in completing and submitting Section 8

         17  priority applications to NYCHA through community

         18  based aftercare agencies.  Aftercare services and

         19  additional supports will also be available to assist

         20  these families in transitioning back to the

         21  community.  I must emphasize, however, that DHS does

         22  not provide emergency priority status for Section 8

         23  to those in shelter. Rather, Children and Fixed

         24  Income Advantage are specific programs serving

         25  special needs populations.
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          2                 Additionally, there are clients that

          3  simply do not require a full year of rental

          4  assistance, but merely the right level of financial

          5  help to get themselves back on their feet after a

          6  particular circumstance or financial setback.

          7  Short- Term Advantage will provide one- time

          8  financial assistance in the form of four months

          9  rent, plus security deposit, brokers fees, and

         10  furniture allowance.

         11                 Those that are quick to criticize us

         12  whenever we roll out a new program content that a

         13  two- year rental subsidy is simply not enough to

         14  sustain our clients outside of shelter.  To them I

         15  would say, you greatly underestimate the strength of

         16  the men and women in our shelters.  They want to

         17  work and much prefer a home of their own over

         18  permanent membership in our shelter system or

         19  permanent dependence on public assistance.

         20                 Over the past several months, staff

         21  and I have spent a great deal of time visiting

         22  shelters and meeting directly with clients and field

         23  staff, both DHS and nonprofit providers.  As I met

         24  with families all over the five boroughs, they told

         25  me they are not looking for handouts, but a leg up.
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          2  For example, Mr. And Mrs. G, proud parents of three

          3  children, a nine year old, a four year old, and a

          4  newborn.  Mrs. G had been employed as a home health

          5  aide but is currently on maternity leave.  Mr. G

          6  recently started a new job as an electrician.  Mrs.

          7  G told me she is very pleased with her new

          8  opportunity through Work Advantage and has already

          9  located an apartment in the borough she resided in

         10  before experiencing homelessness.  The appropriate

         11  paperwork and the apartment inspections are underway

         12  and Mrs. G and her family are poised to be among the

         13  first group of families to move out of shelter and

         14  into a new home with the aid of Work Advantage

         15  rental subsidy.

         16                 I say to our critics that those

         17  experiencing homelessness require the right support

         18  at the right time and Work Advantage and its other

         19  associated programs provide just that:  The various

         20  Advantage programs provide different rental

         21  subsidies to families confronting different

         22  challenges under different circumstances.

         23                 The Work Advantage is not simply a

         24  rental subsidy program; it is also a savings program

         25  that provides clients with a financial cushion when
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          2  the rental assistance ends.  While clients are

          3  receiving the rental subsidy, which will account for

          4  almost 100 percent of their rent, they will pay $50

          5  in rent each month directly to the landlord.  This

          6  ensures clients learn how to become good tenants.

          7  Also, clients are encouraged to save money during

          8  the time spent in Work Advantage.  If they save up

          9  to 20 percent of their rent we will match that

         10  savings and the $50 rent payment per month when they

         11  exit the program.  For instance, after one year a

         12  family with a monthly rent of $1,070 who was saving

         13  at a rate of 20 percent per month could end up with

         14  nearly $6,000 in a savings account after one year,

         15  including the client savings and City matching

         16  funds.  This approach rewards clients for working

         17  and saving money rather than penalizing them for

         18  taking away their rental assistance for working.

         19  Work Advantage also focuses on self- reliance by

         20  providing clients with the tools and resources that

         21  are critical to their success, something that has

         22  not been done before.

         23                 Neither Section 8 nor HSP provided a

         24  savings component, job training, financial planning

         25  or comprehensive aftercare; Work Advantage provides
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          2  all this and more.  The rental assistance program

          3  also includes access to comprehensive services that

          4  will support work and economic stability and to

          5  transitional benefits such as food stamps, Medicaid

          6  and childcare.  HRA will work with Work Advantage

          7  clients through Welfare-To-Work programs by

          8  providing job training, job search and job placement

          9  support. Using these same tools, more than 77,000

         10  public assistance recipients were placed in jobs

         11  just last year.  Work Advantage represents the

         12  continued fulfillment of Mayor Bloomberg's promise

         13  of a more effective way to place public assistance

         14  recipients in jobs.

         15                 Work Advantage is further enhanced by

         16  financial education and guidance.  The Department of

         17  Consumer Affairs Office of Financial Empowerment, is

         18  working with DHS on fostering financial literacy,

         19  expanding access to no fee accounts and structuring

         20  the program's matched- savings component.  OFE will

         21  help DHS clients access the tax credits they deserve

         22  as well as available banking options.  In addition,

         23  guidance will be provided to clients on how to save

         24  and make their money grow for the future.

         25                 DHS data shows that families who have
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          2  shelter for permanent housing, including

          3  unsubsidized housing, have a low rate of return to

          4  shelter.  The rate of families returning to DHS

          5  shelter within two years was four percent in 2006.

          6  To further minimize the rates of return, DHS'

          7  comprehensive approach also includes assistance

          8  during the clients transition to independence

          9  through aftercare services.  Work Advantage clients

         10  will be referred to one of the multiple HomeBase

         11  offices in the City where they will have access to

         12  aftercare services throughout the year. These

         13  services include help with upgrading jobs, household

         14  budgeting and legal services to name a few.

         15  Moreover, our aftercare services providers can also

         16  act as a bridge between landlords and tenants to

         17  address other issues.

         18                 DHS is dedicated to giving New

         19  Yorkers the support they need to avoid shelter, or

         20  if that is not possible, the support they require to

         21  return to the community as quickly as possible.  We

         22  are committed to developing strategies that work for

         23  clients and if those strategies stop working, I'll

         24  say that again, if those strategies stop working, we

         25  do not shy away from correcting them or replacing
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          2  them with strategies that more effectively meet our

          3  clients needs.  But the reality is and always has

          4  been that New Yorkers are resourceful.  We are

          5  resilient.  When faced with a challenge we rise to

          6  meet it.  I expect no less from New Yorkers

          7  experiencing homelessness.  Why?  Because we have a

          8  foundation through these reforms to support our

          9  clients in the way they have told us they need to be

         10  supported.  And Mr. And Mrs. G, our clients who are

         11  readying their family to move to their own home

         12  through Work Advantage, serve as a reminder to all

         13  of us of what can happen when we create programs and

         14  invest in the potential within people to thrive.

         15  Mrs. G told us that she believes her family will

         16  succeed on its own with the new program because it

         17  includes so many pieces to help us, her quote.  She

         18  pointed to the required savings and savings match as

         19  well as the more competitive supplement rates as

         20  making a difference, again, her quote, that will

         21  keep the on their own as they continue to put the

         22  pieces of their life back together after a series of

         23  setbacks that led them to shelter.  This family

         24  inspires me but not because they are the exception.

         25  I look forward to witnessing many more families rise

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  to the occasion as we continue to provide the

          3  resources that they so desperately need to move

          4  beyond shelter.

          5                 Thank you for your interest in

          6  learning about Advantage New York and why we think

          7  it's a critical component of our efforts to meet the

          8  goals of the Mayor's Five- Year Plan.  I am happy to

          9  try to answer any questions you may have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you

         11  Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner Diamond, do I

         12  understand that you're going to answer questions but

         13  don't have actual testimony to provide?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DIAMOND:  Yes,

         15  you understand correctly as always, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Classic,

         17  classic approach. Diamond classic right there.

         18                 Okay, thank you both.   Commissioner

         19  Hess, I truly appreciate running through your

         20  testimony, desire to shake things up, a desire to

         21  try something new, and I appreciate that you have

         22  put a lot of energy into talking to clients, I think

         23  this Administration has historically had a

         24  particular love affair with numerical analysis and

         25  I'm not saying that's bad, but I think you've added
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          2  something by having such direct contact with the

          3  clients and trying to add that into the mix to

          4  understand what might work.  I have to say the

          5  outset, however, I think, I'm sure you didn't mean

          6  in any way to be offensive but I think you're

          7  suggesting that a lot of us who have concerns, or

          8  particularly a lot of the advocates might be

          9  questioning of strength or wisdom of the clients

         10  they serve.  I just have to set the record straight,

         11  and again I don't think you're the type of person

         12  who means to create any affront, I think a lot of us

         13  who worked on this issue believe fundamentally in

         14  the strength, and the creativity, and

         15  resourcefulness of people who happen to be low-

         16  income, or people who happen to have experience

         17  dislocation in their lives, in fact what's so

         18  shocking in many cases is that a lot of families in

         19  this City will have more than one challenge hit them

         20  simultaneously, the break- up of families and

         21  substance abuse, and people who happen to be new to

         22  this Country, all sorts of different challenges

         23  might be occurring simultaneously, and somehow

         24  people keep pulling it together and keep moving

         25  forward.  And sometimes when you think about the
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          2  complexity that hundreds of thousands New Yorkers

          3  face you wonder why we don't have a lot more people

          4  in shelter, and thank God we don't.  But I just have

          5  to be clear.  We fundamentally believe in the

          6  strength of people, but I always put it in these

          7  simple terms, we also understand how many people are

          8  one paycheck away or one dislocation away from that

          9  crisis they can't come back from right away.  And I

         10  think even a lot of very middle class people in this

         11  City would be fundamentally disrupted if they brief

         12  dislocation in their income or some family crisis.

         13  It could profoundly throw- off their lives.  So I

         14  think a lot of us start from the position of, we

         15  truly want to support people struggling to get their

         16  lives together, we're trying to figure out what

         17  works and it's not in any way about being in love

         18  with past programs, in fact a lot of us have wanted

         19  anything but shelter, you know, and have fought to

         20  try and work on prevention and anything that would

         21  keep people from going to shelter.

         22                 Let me start with some concerns about

         23  what you think the realities are for families

         24  reaching self sufficiency.  You have some very

         25  promising statistics, but again I'm concerned about
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          2  what I see in the rental market, I'm concerned about

          3  what I see in the economy, but what kinds of jobs I

          4  think are realistically available to most people who

          5  have not had the advantage of a lot of previous

          6  education and training.  Give us a sense of some of

          7  the research that you did that led you to believe

          8  that these small infusions of support could actually

          9  get people on a consistent path to self sufficiency,

         10  not a temporary step forward but a consistent path

         11  to self- sufficiency.

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well, Mr.

         13  Chairman, I would start with the fact as we look at

         14  the 2006 data with respect to families that have

         15  moved out of the shelter system over the previous

         16  two years.  Whether they moved out with unsubsidized

         17  housing or they moved out under HSP or some other

         18  housing subsidy.  Fewer than four percent returned

         19  to shelter.  No obviously we need to play that out

         20  over time.  We need to continue to monitor that.

         21  We're putting the Citywide prevention and aftercare

         22  in place as a recognition that even if it's four

         23  percent we really don't want those families to have

         24  to return to the shelter system.  We want to try to

         25  catch them early in the community, provide a level
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          2  of support that will allow them to stay in the

          3  community, but if you look at the basic fact that

          4  given no support through unsubsidized leaving a

          5  shelter or HSP, folks are not coming back to shelter

          6  in droves.  Fewer than four percent have come back.

          7  We think through the new Work Advantage program we

          8  crafted a program for people that are able to work

          9  that is just head and shoulders above what we were

         10  able to offer under HSP.  And so for that alone we

         11  would expect fewer people to be coming back.  With

         12  that said, even fewer people coming back would be

         13  too many.  So again, we created the Citywide network

         14  of aftercare to work with those families throughout

         15  their year or two on Work Advantage, figure out

         16  which of those families it is just not going to work

         17  for, their not going to be able to get back, and

         18  provide a different level of support and potentially

         19  a longer term subsidy if they needed it, but only

         20  for those that would need it through HomeBase.  And

         21  So HomeBase is where we have chosen to make our

         22  Section 8 priority allocations.

         23                 And so I think what we have to be

         24  careful of is that we don't try and view, and I know

         25  you wouldn't, but some may, try to view Work
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          2  Advantage in complete isolation.  This is an

          3  additional, kind of, beefed- up program that will

          4  provide great assistance to some number of people.

          5  It's not the only answer, it's not the one size fits

          6  all.  There really are people who are disabled, on

          7  fixed income, that are unlikely to ever be able to

          8  pay the rent in New York City and we tried to

          9  address that through moving them out through the

         10  Fixed Income Advantage and helping them get a

         11  Section 8 through HomeBase.  So there needs to be a

         12  variety of different doors, but I think that when we

         13  start from the premiss, that in the absence of all

         14  the support that we're able to bring the bearer

         15  today, people that left shelter in the last two

         16  years still had a return rate of less than four

         17  percent, we're starting from a pretty good place.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well help us

         19  with some real numbers and choose whatever timeframe

         20  you like, if you want to look at calendar year '06,

         21  or whatever is appropriate for you because it would

         22  be very important to understand how many people left

         23  shelter without subsidy, how many left with subsidy,

         24  and would be important to understand how many people

         25  of our growing population and family shelter had
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          2  been homeless before.  I think there's some natural

          3  skepticism, and again, don't take this personally,

          4  but I think there's some natural skepticism on the

          5  heels of other attempts to believe that so much

          6  could be achieved with relatively little resources.

          7  And again, who wouldn't want that, right?  And

          8  that's been the argument for prevention in general.

          9  But on the other hand, you're talking about trying

         10  to get people onto a long- term path at the same

         11  exact moment as the shelter population has, for

         12  families, has gone up and stayed up.  So I think we

         13  need to hear some numbers that would be a little

         14  more convincing about why you believe the folks who

         15  have left have a consistent history of staying out

         16  of shelter and what you've learned from the people

         17  who have come in recently that led you to believe

         18  this would work.

         19                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Mr. Chairman I

         20  would be happy to provide those numbers to you and

         21  the Committee.  We'll go back and pull that data

         22  together so we can give you the specifics and pass

         23  it along quickly.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Is there any

         25  piece of that you can provide now?  Including what's
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          2  happening with your current shelter population and

          3  how many of them might have previously been homeless

          4  and come back in the shelter despite efforts to get

          5  them to be self- sufficient.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  I think that I

          7  would be talking in generalities and rather than do

          8  that I would like to get you the specific numbers.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, let me

         10  take you to another quick point and then I know

         11  Council Member Brewer has a questions, and I think

         12  some of my other colleagues have questions.

         13                 As much as I appreciate very much the

         14  idea that this plan looks at some interesting ideas

         15  like rewarding savings, I'm also struck by how many

         16  small elements this plan, moving parts here in

         17  effect.  And I'm trying to understand how you

         18  support people, or if they stumble along the way,

         19  how you deal with that, either positively or

         20  negatively.  For example, what if a client is not

         21  paying that $50 to the landlord but does have a

         22  consistent job, or what if they are finding a way to

         23  pay the money but aren't holding on to a single job?

         24    How are you adjusting for those individual

         25  dynamics?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well I think

          3  there's a number os ways.  As families sign leases

          4  and leave shelter, they will be given the address

          5  and phone number of the HomeBase closest to them

          6  with the instructions that if they run into issues

          7  or problems that they will need some assistance

          8  with, they should contact that HomeBase facility for

          9  that support.  In addition to that, we're looking at

         10  ways we can communicate on a fairly regular basis,

         11  whether it be monthly or quarterly, with everyone

         12  that moves out under Work Advantage in order to

         13  provide some assistance and also have the

         14  opportunity to check in with them in one way or

         15  another. We're working through that now.

         16                 In addition to those things, we think

         17  probably starting about month six we'll begin kind

         18  of the recertification process so that we can reach

         19  out to families, see how their doing, get a sense as

         20  you said, have they been able to make that monthly

         21  $50 payment, are they saving money every month, or

         22  not?  We understand fully that people entering the

         23  workforce or picking up jobs at entry levels,

         24  there's going to be a certain amount of fits and

         25  starts, maybe due to nothing they've done.  They
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          2  could end up losing a job or having hours cut or

          3  whatever, and so we're trying to set a standard to

          4  say that folks should work at least 20 hours a week

          5  for at least half the year, as our general standard.

          6    But we'll look at each of these on a case by case

          7  basis.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well that

          9  leads me to a related point.  I'm again impressed by

         10  how much fine tuning there is here and kind of

         11  concerned about it at the same time.  It sounds like

         12  a lot of personnel to be able to keep track of each

         13  of these individual circumstances.  Now to the

         14  extent of personnel are based in HomeBase,

         15  hallelujah, I think that's a very good thing and I

         16  think the fact that you're expanding that concept is

         17  very good, but I'm trying to understand what this

         18  means for the agency.  Are you talking about a

         19  substantial new amount of employees to keep track of

         20  all this.  Are you taking employees from elsewhere?

         21  How do you -- and by the way if you're

         22  individualizing each case, which is a very good

         23  thing if you're treating each person as an

         24  individual to figure out the best way they get to

         25  self sufficiency, the best way to support the, it
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          2  strikes me as taking a lot more work than the

          3  process that you've used up to now.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  I think that's a

          5  fair statement. And that's why we're expanding

          6  prevention efforts Citywide, that's why we've added

          7  an aftercare component, that's why we'll also do

          8  some reorganization internally to have a

          9  recertification unit under our prevention area, but

         10  in addition to all those things, we're working in

         11  extraordinarily close collaboration with HRA. Senior

         12  staff is meeting for the better part of half a day,

         13  a week, working through all these kind of mechanical

         14  issues, understanding that HRA is already spending a

         15  lot of time and a lot of involvement in our clients

         16  lives, monitoring and supporting a lot of these

         17  areas and we don't want to duplicate efforts, but we

         18  do want to compliment each others efforts and

         19  support our families.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So we're going

         21  to have a budget hearing with you next week I

         22  believe, are we expecting to see changes in budgets

         23  to reflect additional personnel?

         24                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  I think any new

         25  needs that we felt like we needed have already been
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          2  incorporated.  I don't think we feel like we need a

          3  new need for this particular area, no.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  But is there a

          5  certain number of personnel that internally are

          6  being transferred on to HomeBase and the efforts

          7  around Work Advantage?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  We're working

          9  through that now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Let me state

         11  the obvious.  It would be very helpful if we could

         12  have a sense of that by next week for the budget

         13  hearing.

         14                 One more just bigger point and it's

         15  the one that I think has been on so many of our

         16  minds, you addressed it a little bit in the

         17  testimony, yes of course if after one year a family

         18  was doing great and they could stay out of shelter

         19  and get on a path of self- sufficiency consistently

         20  that would be best for everyone.  For those who

         21  couldn't do one year, two years would be fabulous,

         22  but you know the Administration did not make HSP a

         23  five year program by accident.  Whatever one could

         24  say good or bad about it, it was five years for a

         25  reason and I think with some recognition of the time
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          2  it can take, I'm still not clear how you're

          3  accounting for a family that you believe has done

          4  pretty much everything right, but hasn't succeeded.

          5  Has tried but has come up against a lot of

          6  challenges in the environment that we're in, that

          7  still needs more help and it's two years and one

          8  day.  What do you do?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well Mr.

         10  Chairman, I think you're right when you said earlier

         11  that we all want the same thing. We want folks to be

         12  able to move out of shelter quickly, become self-

         13  sufficient or get the support that they need to be

         14  able to remain in the community.  I don't think any

         15  of us knows exactly, or can say with certainty

         16  exactly what that will take for any one family.  And

         17  so we do have to monitor and work with families very

         18  much on a case by case basis.  Our objective is for

         19  families to be able to move out, get the support

         20  they need, whether through Work Advantage, Fixed

         21  Income Advantage, Children's Advantage, or Short

         22  Term Advantage and not have to return to shelter.

         23  And so to the extent the families are successful

         24  after a year on Work Advantage, great.  To the

         25  extent that they're successful after two years on
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          2  Work Advantage, super.  To the extent that there are

          3  some families that still are going to need some

          4  additional support beyond that, we will figure out

          5  how to get them that support through HomeBase, using

          6  the aftercare workers, that will be providing

          7  support to them right along, and if that means that

          8  some of those families ultimately need a longer-

          9  term subsidy it will be our job to figure out how to

         10  get them that longer- term subsidy because again we

         11  do all want the same thing which is that those

         12  families need not return to shelter.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  When you say

         14  that, in other words, you get to two years and one

         15  day, you really don't want to see the only option

         16  you have left to be shelter --

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So then you're

         19  saying you're going to look creatively at your

         20  options.  I don't hear you ruling out Section 8 as

         21  an alternative, very clear you're not putting it

         22  front and center, but you're not ruling out the

         23  various tools at your disposal to help the family at

         24  that point.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Council Member

          3  Brewer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          5  very much.  Just to start with, as Seth knows I've

          6  spent a lot of time getting people one- shots, and

          7  one of the issues when you get it is that despite

          8  good efforts you get the one- shot, people are on

          9  public assistance, hopefully, I ended up being the

         10  third party more than once, is HRA on- time with

         11  their money for the rental?  I'm just saying that's

         12  a problem.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  It has not been a

         14  problem for us or our families, Councilwoman.  We

         15  started as a pilot this one- shot program and

         16  shelter last August I believe, and we have now

         17  moved, assisted moving over 300 families out of

         18  shelter under this short term assistance advantage

         19  program and I have to say that the cooperation and

         20  coordination with HRA has just been spectacular.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I'm just

         22  saying at least with the one- shots for those on

         23  public assistance, not in your program, just trying

         24  to stay in housing, HRA comes in late and then you

         25  end up with another landlord situation which could
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          2  be worked out.  It's just something, FYI, that could

          3  be better worked on. Say for instance somebody

          4  doesn't come up with the $50, what happens?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  If they aren't

          6  able to come up with $50 or the savings isn't up to

          7  10 percent, all those things we'll take into

          8  consideration as we look at the recertification

          9  process based upon the individual circumstances that

         10  family has incurred.  And so certainly if someone

         11  takes an entry level job and through no fault of

         12  their own loses that job and has a little period of

         13  time before they're able to start another job, we're

         14  going to take that into consideration.  It's very

         15  difficult and I think it would be a mistake to kind

         16  of set guidelines so rigidly that you know one

         17  little bump in the road and a family is found

         18  ineligible for the next piece.  So we want to try to

         19  be somewhat flexible in this.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, so I'm

         21  not as clear as Council Member DeBlasio, so the

         22  notion is that you are on public assistance, you get

         23  into an apartment, you pay $50 and then the program

         24  pays the balance of the rent for a period of time

         25  and then hopefully between a part- time job, saving,
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          2  and then hopefully a full- time job, you can get

          3  back on your feet.  Is that --

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- The

          6  general idea?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's the

          8  general idea.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and

         10  then if two years isn't enough time, you'll try and

         11  be flexible about trying to figure out the right

         12  timing.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well, we'll

         14  figure out what's next.  This particular program

         15  will end for that family at the end of two years,

         16  but that doesn't mean that their rental assistance

         17  would necessarily end.  We'll work through HomeBase

         18  to figure out, given the eligibility and the

         19  circumstances of that family what's next for them.

         20  We hope the people, many people will be on their own

         21  after a year, many more people will be on their own

         22  after two years, but we recognize that there will be

         23  some number of families that will need support

         24  beyond two years and we see HomeBase and the

         25  aftercare component as being the vehicle to assist
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          2  them.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And the

          4  HomeBase folks are people who already work for DHS

          5  and who are familiar with what's available in the

          6  different neighborhoods, et cetera?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well, they --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I could train

          9  them about my neighborhood and I'm just saying we

         10  could really be helpful.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  No, and I

         12  appreciate that.

         13                 HomeBase providers are contract

         14  providers of the City, nonprofit organizations

         15  typically that contract with the City to provide

         16  these services in six community districts at the

         17  moment, but Citywide by the end of the summer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, all

         19  right.  And then the other question I have is just

         20  so I understand, the people are on public assistance

         21  when they first join, and then unlike HSP they're

         22  rewarded in a sense for getting a job?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, so

         25  that's a big difference in the two of them.  How
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          2  many folks have already, maybe this was discussed

          3  earlier, been offered Work Advantage thus far?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  We have offered

          5  Work Advantage to -- 750 families in the shelter

          6  systems have already received Work Advantage letters

          7  and a couple of have already signed leases and moved

          8  out.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  And

         10  people are finding apartments in the way that

         11  anybody does, some assistance from the contracted

         12  agency with which you're working, and then luck?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well to some

         14  degree that's true. The good news in this particular

         15  Work Advantage program is that there is higher rents

         16  than HSP and guaranteed rent payments to the

         17  landlord so that the landlord doesn't have to worry

         18  about fits and starts and payments and rent, they're

         19  going to get paid every month, and remember that we

         20  changed a couple of months ago now I think, our

         21  inspection process so that all of these are Section

         22  8 quality inspected apartments that have been

         23  reinspected until they passed so it's a little bit

         24  different than where we started with HSP.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and
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          2  who's helping people with the job situation?  I mean

          3  Ellen Howard- Cooper can do almost everything, but

          4  there's another step here.  How can the people --

          5  that's through your HRA program, or --

          6                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes, through the

          7  few people that Ellen Howard- Cooper can't assist --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But there are

          9  not many.

         10                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  No, there really

         11  aren't many --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I'm aware of

         13  that.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  It's absolutely

         15  true.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I'm aware of

         17  it.

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  But for those

         19  few, Seth is picking up --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I understand,

         21  I was going to say that, but that's okay, go ahead.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DIAMOND:  The employment services that people will

         24  access will be through the HRA menu of activities

         25  that include many that Ellen developed that are
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          2  still with us and have been successful at placing

          3  people in jobs.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And then

          5  eventually they still might be able to work with

          6  one- stop as time goes on, and they are back on

          7  their feet, et cetera?

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  DIAMOND:  Yes, once they're placed in a job they can

         10  continue to access services through the vendor that

         11  placed them, in addition their one- stop will be

         12  available for additional services and for upgrades

         13  and those kinds of things.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and so

         15  how does the health care work?  And this obviously

         16  public assistance one has. How does the transition

         17  on benefits work?  Obviously if your job has

         18  benefits, great.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  DIAMOND:  Sure, that would be the best.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DIAMOND:  But people who be eligible for

         24  transitional benefits if their case closes.  If

         25  their public assistance case closes they'll be
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          2  eligible for transitional benefits and then they'll

          3  continue to be eligible as their income allows for

          4  things like Medicaid.  People are eligible for food

          5  stamps, transitional food stamps when their case

          6  closes, transition child care.  There's a whole

          7  range of services people can get initially on what's

          8  called a transitional basis, but on an on- going

          9  basis as long as they need them if their income

         10  allows, there's a benefit determination and they may

         11  be eligible for those to.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and it

         13  sounds to me like the HomeBase workers are familiar

         14  with the neighborhood. That's the idea.  In other

         15  words, it could be somebody in a contracted agency

         16  to be that HomeBase -- that's a real important

         17  person --

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- And so all

         20  I say is as you're doing that, I don't know who's

         21  overseeing that portion, but that's your key.  If

         22  that link is weak, then this whole thing falls

         23  apart.  So how do you determine this service person

         24  for the HomeBase.  I mean I could do HomeBase, but

         25  you know --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  I think you do.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I could do it

          4  with my eyes closed, but how would you determine how

          5  to do that, the HomeBase person?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  The HomeBase

          7  contract is a competitive process, people have

          8  submitted RFP responses and selections are being

          9  made now for the Citywide roll-out.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  It is very very

         12  important that all of the HomeBase workers have a

         13  complete understanding of the community, the

         14  services available in the community, really frankly

         15  have good listening skills that can understand the

         16  issues that people present to them, and then help

         17  provide the support necessary.  Very often, as you

         18  know, it's mediation services for example.

         19  Resolution services can be very very important and

         20  so not only do they need to understand the community

         21  and resources available in the community, they

         22  really need to have very good people skills.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  My only

         24  suggestion with the HomeBase is, once you have the

         25  list you get the Council Members and the Community
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          2  Board and elected officials to know the list,

          3  exchange phone numbers so everybody, you know the

          4  old adage it takes a community, everybody can assist

          5  to keep the program at its best.  Because my guess

          6  is as great as some of the contracts are you're

          7  going to have some week links and it would be good

          8  to have some support for those weak links.

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Good point.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you

         13  Council Member Brewer.  Council Member Annabel

         14  Palma.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you Mr.

         16  Chair.  Good afternoon Commissioner.

         17                 I'm interested to in any way does the

         18  saving effect other benefits for clients who are on

         19  the program?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's an

         21  excellent program.  We struggle with that a little

         22  bit but we think Seth has the answer.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  DIAMOND:  That is an issue.  Our goal would be that

         25  people who save the money, who do the right thing
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          2  and put money aside, it will not have an effect on

          3  their ability to receive other benefits.

          4  Unfortunately, it's a complicated system and many of

          5  those benefits are not under the control of the City

          6  or even the State.  So those are the things that

          7  we're going to have to be working with the State,

          8  and in some cases we'll have to approach the federal

          9  government for waivers, but we're confident that

         10  because the intent of the program is one that is

         11  supported by the people who design those programs

         12  that will be able to allow people to save and not

         13  have it impact their benefits.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  And then will

         15  the client be in sole discretion of their savings?

         16  I mean is this going to be like a regular savings

         17  account where people are going to put their money

         18  and then have the ability to withdraw it any time,

         19  or would it be monitored by Department or the

         20  Administration?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Certainly this is

         22  an individual account.  Individuals will open these

         23  accounts and we will not have any control or

         24  monitoring over the amount of money they chose to

         25  put in or when they put it in or the amount of money
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          2  they need to take out for a variety of reasons.

          3  What we will do is during the recertification

          4  process, we'll take a look at savings that are in

          5  the account and when it was put there and make some

          6  judgements as to the match that we will provide.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Will the

          8  savings have any effect if someone has gone through

          9  the program for a year and is going through

         10  recertification to see if they're eligible for the

         11  second year?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  I think what

         13  you're asking is there any adverse --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Right.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  -- Consideration

         16  when people save 20 percent and they have a

         17  considerable amount of money in the bank.  The

         18  answer is no, that will not adversely effect them in

         19  any way with respect to their need or not for a

         20  second year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Okay, and then

         22  my last question is, when you speak of a family you

         23  spoke about Mr. And Mrs. G, and he's working and

         24  she's, I believe in your testimony receiving public

         25  assistance.  What happens when both adults are
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          2  working?  Is there a cap in the amount of income

          3  they are supposed to earn before they are eligible?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  The program's

          5  designed not to exceed 200 percent of the federal

          6  poverty guidelines.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So many

         10  questions Commissioner.

         11                 Let me start with more of the

         12  HomeBase element of this because I think I beginning

         13  to be a little confused by the magnitude.  I'm

         14  thrilled that the magnitude will be much larger at

         15  HomeBase.  It's something we've been calling for for

         16  a long time. I'm a little confused on the approach.

         17                 You said I think to Council Member

         18  Brewer an RFP has gone out.  Now, I'm confused.  I

         19  thought I understood at HomeBase the core staff was

         20  DHS staff and the services they relate people to

         21  were not.  But you're saying even the day to day

         22  staff is not DHS staff?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, just to

         25  get us all on the same page just explain what each
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          2  office looks like and how they do their work and who

          3  they refer people to for specific services.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  There's HomeBase

          5  offices in six separate CD's, all of which are under

          6  contract with DHS.  They are private providers.

          7  Each of those providers has their own staff that

          8  meet the needs of anyone that walks in the door.  In

          9  addition to their direct service staff to support

         10  families primarily they come into the front door,

         11  they do significant amount of community outreach to

         12  try to identify families that are at risk of

         13  homelessness or precariously housed and provide

         14  those families with a variety of support.  And

         15  that's all done through the contracted providers

         16  staff.  We do have our own division of prevention,

         17  the Deputy Commissioner Ellen Howard- Cooper is

         18  responsible for with our own internal infrastructure

         19  for contract management and monitoring and

         20  evaluation.  And so that is the DHS portion.

         21                 We expect to add to the DHS

         22  prevention division a recertification unit to be

         23  able to assist and support with recertification

         24  effort for families that are completing their first

         25  year of Work Advantage.  Now remember, on the other

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  advantage programs there won't be a need for

          3  recertification.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So the

          5  administration will be by DHS employees, but the

          6  service providing will be by nonprofits chosen by

          7  RFP.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And forgive my

         10  having missed that from how you built out your

         11  previous model.

         12                 How do you track and individual or an

         13  individual family?  You know, in a very different

         14  part of the administration we obviously have

         15  oversight responsibility for ACS and so we look at

         16  the way an individual family, individual child is

         17  tracked, and there's a great emphasis of course on

         18  the same case worker following a case through.

         19  You're now going into a new approach in many ways

         20  for DHS. Are you going to have an individual who has

         21  personal responsibility for tracking a families case

         22  throughout, either on DHS' payroll or in a specific

         23  nonprofit?

         24                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  A short answer is

         25  no, the longer answer is every family that moves out
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          2  of shelter with Work Advantage will have the phone

          3  number and the address of the nearest HomeBase

          4  facility.  With instructions they run into a

          5  problem, they need some help or support, they should

          6  go there.  So we're not going to assume from the

          7  beginning that every family is going to need

          8  aftercare support.  Many will, but some will not.

          9  And our first effort is going to be for the them to

         10  self- select.  If they do self- select that they

         11  need support and they contact their HomeBase office,

         12  then they would open a case and they'd be assigned a

         13  worker and that worker would follow them.  So at

         14  that point the answer would be yes.  The other thing

         15  of course that will happen, if a family is just

         16  going along, they've been through six or seven

         17  months of the first year and they begin the

         18  certification process to see whether they need to

         19  continue through a second year or the first year was

         20  adequate for them, then of course they'll be

         21  assigned to a worker who will do the evaluation of

         22  their circumstances.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I've got to

         24  tell you, I find there to be a consistent optimism

         25  running through your approach which on the one hand
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          2  I find commendable because that's what you need to

          3  change things and on the other hand I'm concerned

          4  about it because I think you keep assuming that

          5  things are going to work swimmingly all throughout

          6  this process and I'm confused.  I mean if you've got

          7  multiple measures running through this program,

          8  people have to have the savings, they have to pay

          9  the $50 in rent each month, getting their 20 hours

         10  per week of work, and these are all good things, I'm

         11  not criticizing them, I'm saying it's intricate from

         12  my point of view.  Its intricacy may be an advantage

         13  but it also strikes me that because we're dealing

         14  with human beings it's a lot to manage there.  If

         15  it's sort of passive management, you know here's a

         16  phone number if you have a problem or if we see you

         17  go off the rails we'll come find you, I'm a little

         18  confused whether that's going to work.  I am

         19  attracted to the notion of really working with a

         20  family to figure out their path to self-

         21  sufficiency. And I see much more flexibility here.

         22  But you say in your first paragraph of testimony,

         23  you know we've got to move away from one size fits

         24  all, which I commend, but you're not really moving

         25  away from one size fits all if you're not working
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          2  with an individual family on a regular basis and in

          3  effect providing some support or coaching to make

          4  sure all these pieces come together.  Because this

          5  is something brand new, everyone's trying to figure

          6  out for the first time, and I would think the goal

          7  is every day sooner you can get into self-

          8  sufficiency the better, and I would again that is

          9  achieved more likely through one person working with

         10  them consistently, gets to know them, gets to

         11  understand their needs. So how do you think

         12  realistically you're going to get that done with

         13  families fighting an uphill battle here without that

         14  continuity?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well, remember

         16  Mr. Chairman, some families, or all families are

         17  going to continue to have some HRA involvement.  All

         18  right, that doesn't change.  All families that feel

         19  like they need our support, we're going to give them

         20  the support that we need.  We're going to do that

         21  through the aftercare portion of HomeBase.  I guess

         22  the only place we differ is that we believe that

         23  once a family leaves shelter, we ought to have less

         24  involvement in the families life until the family

         25  tells us that they need us.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well I

          3  couldn't agree more but I'm still seeing you have

          4  the checklist of items the family has to meet.

          5  Let's just take a real life example and you're just

          6  going to have to go a little slowly here and lay

          7  this out.  If family goes into Work Advantage, they

          8  get 20 hours plus of work, they are putting aside

          9  the savings and they are paying the $50 a month

         10  towards the landlord, and the third month something

         11  changes.  Who goes to who?  Are you saying the

         12  family picks up the phone to HomeBase and says I've

         13  got a problem, or are you saying you guys notice

         14  something didn't happen and then you're going to pay

         15  a visit.  How is that going to work?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Two ways.  First,

         17  the family can always call us and ask for some

         18  support through HomeBase aftercare, that's a given,

         19  from day one leaving shelter they can always do

         20  that.  And in fact, the people leaving on Fixed

         21  Advantage or Children's Advantage will always get

         22  the from day one.  Where it's a little different is

         23  the family that's working leaves and they need some

         24  additional support, then we're either going to find

         25  out because they contact the HomeBase initially, or
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          2  we'll find out through their normal interaction with

          3  the HRA worker.  And so to add another layer would

          4  seem redundant to us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And I'm not

          6  saying there shouldn't be coordination between DHS

          7  and HRA, you don't need both. This reminds me of a

          8  whole conversation I had with your predecessor on

          9  the question of where prevention programs would

         10  reside because as you know at various points

         11  prevention efforts have been at different agencies

         12  and I always felt that they should reside squarely

         13  in DHS because you guys had to live with the

         14  results.  And if you had an incentive to continue to

         15  find creative ways to keep people out of shelter,

         16  you would be the best folks to run prevention.

         17                 I'm a little concerned here, and I'd

         18  be lying to you if I didn't say the shadow of some

         19  of the issues that came through from HSP is

         20  effecting my views here.  I'm a little concerned it

         21  sounds like a lot of wiggle room here.   A lot of

         22  room for an individual to not be communicated with

         23  consistently by the agency that has a central

         24  mission of keeping them out of shelter.  I'm not

         25  saying that HRA wouldn't love anything more than for
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          2  each person they meet to succeed in the workplace.

          3  But I just feel like there is some greyness here and

          4  this effort sounds like it's so much based on

          5  understanding because in part of your discussion

          6  with clients, my understanding of how to literally

          7  work individually with people to solve their

          8  challenges and get them on the right path, it's the

          9  polar opposite of what we used to do once upon a

         10  time when we put people in the big barrack- like

         11  shelters, so this in a sense is a program based on

         12  believing that people can get somewhere but also

         13  understands that a lot of individual support is

         14  necessary and if it works, it's the best thing in

         15  the world for the family and the children in the

         16  families, it's the best thing in the world for the

         17  taxpayer, it's the best thing in the world for

         18  getting homelessness, our numbers down, et cetera,

         19  but are you really devoting the time, the energy,

         20  the personnel you need to individualize it

         21  sufficiently to make it work?  That's my question.

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  And we believe we

         23  are.  I can only tell you Mr. Chairman that the

         24  cooperation, the support, the integration of staff,

         25  management, and other operational staff with HRA,
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          2  over the last few months in preparation for this

          3  point has just been in my judgement, phenomenal.  I

          4  think that we'll be well positioned to be able to

          5  provide the support that families need to identify

          6  what help they may need when without adding layer

          7  after layer on top of family requirements.  That

          8  said, we'll monitor this very closely as we go

          9  along.  If we're doing something that isn't working

         10  as well as we'd like it to work and we're not

         11  achieving the outcomes that we're hoping to achieve,

         12  then we'll make whatever adjustments we need to make

         13  along the way.  I think your point is very well

         14  taken.  You want to ensure the clients early on are

         15  given the level of support, you know if they hit a

         16  pothole in the road that we're identifying that

         17  quickly and helping provide the support that they

         18  might need to move forward.  And we certainly

         19  support that.  We think that the collaboration that

         20  we forge with HRA will allow us to do that without

         21  adding in any additional layers, but not

         22  withstanding that we want to give folks from the day

         23  they sign a lease the contact information that may

         24  be beneficial to them over time, to contact their

         25  local HomeBase and to get the support that they need
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          2  through that HomeBase provider.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, now

          4  let's talk a little more about -- let me ask you

          5  just one simple question.  Did I understand you to

          6  say that the six month point there will some check-

          7  in with every family from an HRA caseworker or is it

          8  a HomeBase caseworker?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  No, I think by

         10  the six month point we'll begin the check- ins on

         11  the recertification piece.  So that's going to come

         12  more likely from HomeBase, but I think there's

         13  regular check- ins and involvement that HRA will

         14  have along the way as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right, so

         16  six months and after, DHS Homeless Services is

         17  checking in to see if recertification is necessary,

         18  makes sense.

         19                 Okay, now let me ask you, let's do

         20  some negative narratives here so I understand your

         21  thinking.  Family fails outright, it's the third

         22  month again and it's just falling to pieces.

         23  Someone lost a job that they got, their not making

         24  any payments, whatever it may be, what do you do

         25  now?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well we do a

          3  complete assessment of that family and the

          4  situation, the circumstances and we make a

          5  determination as to what's in that family's best

          6  interest going forward and if it's unlikely given

          7  the scenario that you laid out that that family is

          8  going to be able to successfully achieve

          9  independence through the Work Advantage program,

         10  then we'll use the balance of their time in the Work

         11  Advantage, in this case the next nine months to help

         12  move them to the next appropriate program or level

         13  of rental subsidy.  Whatever that may be given their

         14  individual circumstances.  If for example the reason

         15  that that family kind of was unable to continue

         16  working was because of a permanent disability and we

         17  needed to help them apply for social security

         18  disability and they receive that within the next

         19  nine months, then we would be able to move them from

         20  the Work Advantage program in the scenario that

         21  we've just created to the Fixed Income Advantage and

         22  move them towards a Section 8 in the community.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  What if you

         24  have a family who has done everything right, that

         25  they just lose the job because the job isn't there
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          2  anymore, because you know, as we know it's a fickle

          3  workplace, and sometimes you're just get told we

          4  don't need you anymore, and they're not able to get

          5  a new job right away.  How do you, give us a real

          6  life example.  That's the only thing that changed

          7  was their employer didn't need them anymore.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  You and I both

          9  know that sadly that will happen and when it does we

         10  need to be there for them very quickly and assist

         11  them in finding the next job.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And what do

         13  you do in the meantime?  They can't make the $50

         14  payment to the landlord, they can't save, what are

         15  you doing?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  In the meantime

         17  we're not going to penalize them.  We understand

         18  there's some fits and starts. That's part of

         19  accepting start- up jobs and entry level jobs.

         20  There will be fits and starts.  Some of which will

         21  become problematic due to something the employee has

         22  done.  In other cases it will be something the

         23  employer has done or not done that caused them to

         24  lose that job.  We recognize that as part of the

         25  process.  We do not intend to penalize people in
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          2  that scenario.  What we intend to do is work with

          3  them through HRA vendors as quickly as possible to

          4  help them get reemployed.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  DIAMOND:  In addition to the vendors --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Please

          8  introduce yourself.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DIAMOND:  I'm sorry, Seth Diamond, Executive Deputy

         11  Commissioner at HRA, this wasn't the first question

         12  I answered though --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm sorry, I

         14  just didn't get it on record before.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DIAMOND:  The HRA is available for financial support

         17  also, temporary financial support during that

         18  interim period between when they lose the job and

         19  when they're replaced including paying that $50 a

         20  month.  So the rent is paid for that period, for the

         21  year, at the three month point the rent has already

         22  been paid.  If the need some temporary financial

         23  help to help them over the hump we can provide that

         24  through HRA and also we have the additional

         25  employment services to hopefully replace them as
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          2  quickly as possible.  There's no evaluation, there

          3  will be no harm done if they lose it through no

          4  fault of their own as the Commissioner said, but our

          5  goal is to quickly get them back into the job market

          6  and working as quickly as possible.  And they'll

          7  have the ability to pay that $50 during that interim

          8  period so the landlord will not suffer any loss of

          9  income either.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Who makes the

         11  decision in an individual case that there's a valid

         12  problem and that someone deserves some flexibility,

         13  some leniency while they work out their problems?

         14  Who makes that decision?

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  It's going to be

         16  based on, in part, who the individual contacts, in

         17  other words, under that scenario the individual

         18  could contact their HRA worker and come to that

         19  conclusion or, they could take the address and phone

         20  number they received of the HomeBase aftercare

         21  worker, have a case open there, and that worker

         22  could then advocate for them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  What if they

         24  do nothing and they just aren't able to pay and

         25  their not clear on who they're supposed to call, or

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  don't think to call?  Who's going to find them?

          3  Who's going to make the decision?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well we're going

          5  to use a variety of strategies to try to communicate

          6  with folks in the Work Advantage program on a

          7  regular basis and try to be sure that they

          8  understand what their options are based upon these

          9  various scenarios.  My guess is that we won't

         10  envision every possible scenario from the beginning,

         11  but the scenario such as the one you outlined that

         12  we think could well happen from the beginning we'll

         13  be passing the information on to Work Advantage

         14  clients so that they know what to do under these

         15  special circumstances.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm just going

         17  to say one point and then I want to really ask HRA

         18  about its job training programs where again there's

         19  been some serious concern over the years and I want

         20  to really get at that.

         21                 I've got to say, Commissioner, it

         22  just sounds like there's a lot of room for someone

         23  to fall through the cracks because of that lack of a

         24  consistent caseworker or consistent presence.  I

         25  keep hearing you say, they'll call their HomeBase or
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          2  you'll communicate with them, I don't hear the kind

          3  of tight management or something.  I think this is

          4  an extraordinarily ambitious program on one level

          5  and you're talking about such nuance to get each

          6  situation right for each person, and yet your

          7  general approach sounds very, very broad and I'm

          8  just concerned that in practice that you're going to

          9  find that that's not how you navigate each of theses

         10  individual cases.  Look, I haven't done anything

         11  near like you have in terms of this work directly,

         12  so I respect your judgement, but it just sounds like

         13  there's a very big piece of work to not have a tight

         14  individual management of each case.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Maybe I'm not

         16  articulating it clearly enough, and for that I

         17  apologies, but we think we have a very tight

         18  partnership with HRA that when you look at the

         19  combination of the HRA involvement and support the

         20  family's we'll receive, plus on top of that, layered

         21  on top of that what is going to be available to our

         22  Work Advantage clients through our aftercare

         23  contracts that we really thing that is adequate.

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DIAMOND:  Also, if they fall into hard times like
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          2  you're describing, they're going to need help from

          3  someone.  If they ask for help from someone, if they

          4  ask for HomeBase, the Commissioners described how

          5  they're going to know that.  If they come in and

          6  apply for public assistance, we're going to know

          7  that.  If they come in and ask for a one- shot a

          8  sort of a payment to help them over the hump, we'll

          9  know that.  If they come in to Housing Court because

         10  they're in danger of getting evicted, HRA has staff

         11  in the Housing Courts, we're going to know that.  So

         12  if they ask for assistance, if they reach the point

         13  where their problem is such that they need help from

         14  someone, and they come to the government, we're

         15  going to be in a position to know that.  We have

         16  multiple opportunities for people to access the

         17  services and between HRA and DHS we have people at

         18  almost every one of them, if not every one of them.

         19  We'll have a system to make sure the word gets out,

         20  that if people come in on Work Advantage that need

         21  help, yes you help resolve the situation

         22  immediately, but then you go beyond that to get them

         23  back on the horse, back in the right place, back

         24  replaced, whatever it is, to get them back in good

         25  standing with the program.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well that's a

          3  clear answer and I can at least visualize that.  My

          4  critique would be that you've got, I always use the

          5  Marshall Plan example, you've got a goal that's a

          6  Marshall Plan like goal.  Reduced homelessness by

          7  two thirds by the end of 2009, which is just not

          8  that far away and to date family homelessness has

          9  been going up not down.  So you've got a huge goal

         10  on your hands and you're not running away from it to

         11  your credit.  But the approach doesn't sound like a

         12  Marshall Plan like approach to me because of the one

         13  fact, I guess I felt like if you were going to be

         14  intensively tracking each family, intensively trying

         15  to stay ahead of their situations with them, and I'm

         16  not saying that wouldn't take a lot of people, I'm

         17  quite clear, but I also think it would probably be

         18  the most cost effective measure you could do to keep

         19  families very much engaged in the steps you're

         20  talking about and supporting them and looking for

         21  roadblocks and trying to knock the roadblocks down

         22  before they became overwhelming, and if the family's

         23  already gotten to housing court I worry that you're

         24  kind of a part- way down the slope already at that

         25  point.  So, again, I don't pretend to understand the
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          2  details of your work, but I do want to raise the

          3  concern that this is a bit of a seat- change here in

          4  approach which I appreciate.  I think it needs a

          5  personnel structure to go with it potentially to get

          6  this many people to do the right thing this

          7  consistently.  Because you're asking for a lot of

          8  good things to happen and people to make a lot of

          9  the right choices and continue to communicate with

         10  you and understand what you're trying to achieve and

         11  I just feel like that's going to take a lot of

         12  direct person to person communication to make it

         13  work.  I don't want to beat a dead horse, I just

         14  want to leave you with that thought.

         15                 Let me go to HRA and the job

         16  placement piece.

         17                 Deputy Commissioner Diamond, I think

         18  there's a lot of confusion from the jump here about

         19  what the truth is about your programs.  And let me

         20  raise this point.  I've seen testimony that

         21  suggested extreme achievements by HRA in terms of

         22  job placement. There was recent testimony that said

         23  77,000 people were placed in jobs, I believe in

         24  2006, and if you have any ability to break that out

         25  that would be helpful, but we had testimony from

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  Commissioner Doar in March, in this very room,

          3  saying that the Back To Work Program which I think

          4  is your core job training and placement program had

          5  only placed 6,100 people out of 32,000 that you had

          6  served as of August.  I know that's a newer program,

          7  but we're trying to understand what the truth is

          8  about the number of people you place, how long they

          9  stay in jobs and what kind of wages they make.

         10  Because it seems to me that is the essence of

         11  whether you piece comes up to Commissioner Hess'

         12  piece effectively.  So what can you tell us?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DIAMOND: Well first of all what Commissioner Doar

         15  said is the truth --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Good move

         17  right there. You've learned a lot over the years.

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  DIAMOND: Yes, yes, yes.  Well let me start at the

         20  outset by talking about our placements and you

         21  mentioned the 77,000 number.  Last year, in addition

         22  to placing 77,000 people overall, we track all our

         23  centers by how many job placements they achieve by

         24  center.  And the center with the best placements in

         25  the City, despite all the issues, despite all the
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          2  obstacles, the one that finished number one, ahead

          3  of every other center is our center serving shelter

          4  clients, Riverview. That center placed over 5,600

          5  people last year. They placed over 1,400 people this

          6  year and that's with at best a neutral incentive to

          7  work, in some ways you could say a strong

          8  disincentive to work because of the HSP program and

          9  the way that we had to, the box we were in, in terms

         10  of people being able to continue the HSP when they

         11  got off placement.  So 5,600 people last year, 1,400

         12  this year, now that's in the range of HRA programs.

         13  That's not only in Back- To- Work, that includes We

         14  Care, that includes Begin, that includes people who

         15  get the jobs on their own who are motivated because

         16  they want to get off public assistance, who will be

         17  motivated because of the New Work Advantage program

         18  to take advantage of that rental subsidy and go out

         19  and look for a job, maybe with some assistance from

         20  HRA, maybe totally on their own, and we're confident

         21  that we'll be able to increase those numbers because

         22  we have such a strong incentive to work. This is

         23  something that we've never had in the housing

         24  market, something we've never had even for people on

         25  public assistance.  It's such a strong positive work
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          2  message and not just the rental subsidy but the

          3  savings all create an environment where people are

          4  going to really want to go to work in numbers that

          5  are greater than what we've experienced before.  So

          6  we've been able to do a substantial number, number

          7  one in the City before this, we think we'll be able

          8  to build on that, in addition we're going to add

          9  services to that, not just hope the incentives work

         10  on their own but we're going to have a range of

         11  services that some will be based at shelters, some

         12  additional based at some of our job centers which we

         13  think will allow us to build on those numbers and

         14  grow them even more to meet the Work Advantage

         15  goals.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right, let

         17  me, and boy you know we -- I think if I had a theme

         18  here for you, it's not that anyone disagrees with

         19  your aspirations, it's that we're trying to be

         20  realistic and we've seen a lot of good ideas that

         21  didn't quite work, particularly one confronted with

         22  economic reality.  And I keep coming back to this

         23  housing market which I think we all agree is

         24  something no one could have anticipated.

         25                 Let me put you through your paces a
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          2  little bit more here.  For example, I understand

          3  that your data, and this is based on data from about

          4  a year and a half ago, August '05, at that point the

          5  average wage for an individual leaving public

          6  assistance was $7.80 and hour.  Now you may have

          7  updated information, but I'm looking at Commissioner

          8  Hess' valid goal, self- sufficiency, looking at the

          9  need for people to pay regularly to the landlord to

         10  the savings and that's very good, but what's the

         11  dollar figure someone needs to make?  And do you

         12  have evidence you can get them to that on a

         13  consistent basis?  And again, I think if we felt it

         14  was really easy for someone, let's say it took $10

         15  an hour and you thought it was really easy to get a

         16  $10 an hour job for two years, or one year, and then

         17  you're on your way, that would be fantastic.  But I

         18  think my question is, what's that tipping point.

         19  How long does someone need a job and at what wage

         20  level to make your vision work? I know there's no

         21  one answer but give us some guidelines, give us some

         22  sense of what your average is.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  DIAMOND:  Well first of all that $7.80 might be what

         25  they make when they leave public assistance, but
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          2  again this rental subsidy is to years plus savings

          3  beyond that.  So I don't think you should focus on

          4  the $7.80 that they may make on their initial job,

          5  but what we're going to be able to get them up to

          6  hopefully with the time that we will have between

          7  when they leave and at the end of the program.  In

          8  addition, during that two years people who have

          9  absolutely no rental obligation beyond the $50 a

         10  month.  That gives them, if they're earning money, a

         11  substantial opportunity to save money even beyond

         12  the 20 percent match that we're offering, but the

         13  can develop a large nest- egg that they'll be able

         14  to use at the end of the program.  We think the that

         15  combination of the length of the program plus the

         16  saving that they will develop will give people a

         17  real opportunity to increase their wages and put

         18  them on a good sound footing for the future.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right,

         20  either one of you be as specific as you can.

         21  There's got to be a model out here, you've obviously

         22  studied the real life dynamics in New York City

         23  economy, if someone's doing 20 hours per week and

         24  they're making eight dollars an hour, that's $160 a

         25  week, so that's $600 a month, roughly, am I doing

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  that right?  A little more?  If they're paying 20

          3  percent to savings of the rental figure, if they're

          4  paying the $50 a month to the landlord and they have

          5  to do whatever in terms of day to day life, I agree

          6  with you, a huge expense is covered essentially up

          7  front with the rent and that's very important, but

          8  what's the model you're working with that says,

          9  okay, when you factor in clothes, food, everything

         10  else, particularly for larger families that this is

         11  going to work.  Because we want it to succeed, so

         12  what's the breakpoint that you know it will work at?

         13  How long do they have to have what level of wage in

         14  order for it to work?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DIAMOND:  I think you also have to consider there's

         17  a lot of supports out there beyond just what people

         18  are earning and the rental subsidy that we're

         19  providing.  People are also eligible for the earned

         20  income tax credit that could be several thousand

         21  dollars a year, we're going to be doing an enhanced

         22  effort for child support, some people can get

         23  several thousand dollars a year of child support

         24  which they wouldn't have gotten in the same way when

         25  they were on public assistance.  They also will be
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          2  eligible for food stamps, Medicaid, so there's a

          3  range of supports that will supplement the income

          4  and the rental payment that the City is making that

          5  we think will be able to allow people to earn their

          6  way certainly during the two years, and even beyond

          7  that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right,

          9  that made sense too, so let me just play that back

         10  and see if I got that right.  So you're saying in a

         11  sense that you have an individual family and you're

         12  trying to in effect go down a checklist of

         13  everything that you can put into play for them.  Now

         14  we all know some things people will qualify for and

         15  some they won't, some processing is quicker and some

         16  is slower.  There are no guarantees, earned income

         17  tax quite obviously is a once a year cycle, but the

         18  point is you're starting with the assumption of

         19  trying to maximize the different types of positive

         20  inputs you can put into the equation.  --

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  DIAMOND:  That's right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  -- And I

         24  appreciate that. And that's very consistent with

         25  everything I think we've all come to a consensus on
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          2  about what we try to do with food stamps, EITC, all

          3  the things that were being left on the table that

          4  hopefully we're all learning to not leave on the

          5  table.  But there's a reason we still have,

          6  depending on who you talk to, 300,000 to 500,000

          7  people who don't have food stamps because it's just

          8  not a snap of the fingers, there's a lot that has to

          9  be done and there's a lot of subtleties.  So I would

         10  say, to the extent you're really working with each

         11  family personally I could see that succeeding more

         12  to the extent that you don't have the time, energy

         13  and resources to do it, I would see it succeeding

         14  less and each family will be different. I'm still

         15  grasping for some minimum wage level that you think

         16  is necessary and for some period of time.  Are you

         17  saying, say minimum wage, are you literally saying

         18  if a family had one wage earner, minimal wage job,

         19  that you could see them making it to self

         20  sufficiency through this program because of those

         21  other supports?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  No, not in and of

         23  itself.  I mean I think that what we're saying is if

         24  people start in the seven dollar plus range over a

         25  couple of years you're able to increase hours, and
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          2  increase income reasonably and at the end of a year

          3  they've done it enough that they could leave with

          4  $6,000 of savings, then they're moving in the right

          5  direction and they're on a good track.  There will

          6  be some people that will need us to be with them for

          7  two years and could leave after two years, their

          8  income growing even further and leaving with $12,000

          9  in savings and all the other supports and benefits

         10  that they're entitled to, we think that there's a

         11  high probability for success for that group. Having

         12  said that, every family is different, every set of

         13  circumstances is going to be different and,

         14  therefore, we have to have the Citywide Aftercare

         15  network in place to be able to support families

         16  where that may not be enough.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Let me go back

         18  one step on HRA and just the overall level of

         19  achievement or challenges that you face with your

         20  program.  Deputy Commissioner, can you just lay out

         21  what whatever the most recent numbers you have?  Can

         22  we just go over how many people you attempted to

         23  help yet into Work, how many you've succeeded with?

         24  Can you talk about wage levels?  Can you talk about

         25  the amount of time people stayed in placements?
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          2  What do you have that you can break- out for us

          3  here?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          5  DIAMOND:  Well for 2007, I can tell you that we have

          6  as of the end of April 1,403 placements.  So that's

          7  total placements for people at the Riverview Center.

          8    That's most of the people who are in shelter, most

          9  of the families who are in shelter have their cases

         10  basically at Riverview because that allows for

         11  better communication with DHS, but that's not even

         12  all the people in shelter.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Fourteen

         14  hundred out of how many that you attempted to serve?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DIAMOND:  We're working with all the shelter

         17  families at some level.  Some of them are awaiting

         18  activities to start.  Some of them have started.

         19  Some of them have not complied and we're moving

         20  through that process.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So 1,400 out of

         22  what's been your universe during 2007?   Roughly?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  DIAMOND: Approximately 80 percent of the families in

         25  shelter are on public assistance right now.  So
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          2  there's around 9,000 families in shelter, so

          3  approximately 7,000 would be on public assistance.

          4  We're working with that range of people.  Some of

          5  them are currently participating in programs.  Some

          6  of them have other kinds of barriers which don't let

          7  them participate right now.  Some of them may have

          8  been recently placed and we don't have them recorded

          9  just yet, their in the entire range of activities.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  This is really

         11  simplistic on my part, you'll forgive me, you just

         12  gave one snapshot, 2007, one particular location,

         13  1,400 you've gotten some level placement without a

         14  rough universe of 7,000 that you've had some contact

         15  with.  Commissioner Doar in March talked about the

         16  Back To Work Program, which started August '06, and

         17  if I understand what he was saying, to date, he

         18  said, of 32,000 people who had been connected to the

         19  program, 6,100 had been placed in jobs.  That

         20  suggest about a 20 percent success rate.  You tell

         21  me if I'm missing something? Is that a fair

         22  estimation of what is an expected success level for

         23  a program like this?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DIAMOND:  The two things you were looking at are a
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          2  little bit apples and oranges. One are people who

          3  enter a program, what success there is with placing

          4  people who have enrolled in a program and have

          5  started the program, how many of those get jobs.  I

          6  was talking about how many people have cases,

          7  meaning a public assistance case at Riverview, how

          8  many people of those get jobs.  Not all of them are

          9  engaged in employment programs.  Some of them are,

         10  some of them have barriers and the 7,000 number was

         11  a point in time.  How many people at any one point

         12  in time roughly on public assistance who are in the

         13  shelter system.  And again, the number that I gave,

         14  the 1,400 number was with not a positive incentive

         15  to work.  That was with the existing HSP criteria

         16  when people knew, and believe me the word was out in

         17  the shelter system that if you worked at too high a

         18  level you were not going to be able to get HSP, or

         19  if you had HSP you were going to lose HSP.  That was

         20  not the right message to reinforce work, we all

         21  agree with.  Now we have exactly the right message

         22  to reinforce work, which is if you do work you're

         23  going to get a very good and generous subsidy

         24  program.  So we expect those numbers of placements

         25  to increase substantially.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I hear that,

          3  but I'm still trying to get a sense of where we

          4  starting from.  HRA sent us a letter on April 9th of

          5  this year in response to our questions coming out of

          6  the budget hearing.  And in the letter, this is a

          7  quote from the letter, this is referring to Back To

          8  Work, I'm just going to use any examples and then

          9  you'll hopefully help me understand the bigger

         10  picture.  Back To Work Contracts "do not

         11  specifically define goals but include assumptions

         12  that are used in budgeting," and therefore, Back To

         13  Work, and now I'm paraphrasing, Back To Work

         14  contracts on the assumption that 52 percent of

         15  referrals will complete an assessment, including an

         16  employment plan, and of those an initial 30 day

         17  placement, 25 percent of those completing the

         18  employment plan will be placed in a job.  So what I

         19  keep seeing through all of this is, I'm not saying

         20  that these are necessarily surprising numbers but

         21  just that there's a substantial fall- off between

         22  the number of people you start with and the number

         23  of people who are actually successful in any

         24  meaningful long- term way.  We've talked about this

         25  in previous hearings.  A lot of your numbers might
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          2  be great at 30 days or 90 days, but of course

          3  there's a substantial drop- off thereafter.  I've

          4  always wanted to know how much of that was the

          5  employer no longer needed the worker, how much of

          6  that was the worker who didn't do something right,

          7  how much of that was some other factor, but I guess

          8  I'm trying to still understand from either of you

          9  what assumption you make because you've got

         10  thousands of people who are now going to go into

         11  Work Advantage, and we have a track record that says

         12  only so many people actually make it on an ongoing

         13  basis.  How are you accounting for that and yes, I

         14  hear, you're going to be having extra supports in a

         15  more coordinated fashion, and yes, you have some new

         16  incentives and no one should ignore that.  But you

         17  still have to have some model that says you take you

         18  from limited success to much higher level of success

         19  and I'm still having a little trouble following

         20  that.  Is there something that you're basing this on

         21  that gives you that confidence?  Is there some

         22  example specifically within either of your agencies

         23  or in some other jurisdiction that has led you to

         24  believe these inputs are going to take these numbers

         25  up so substantially?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Again, what we

          3  know Mr. Chairman is that of the people that have

          4  left shelter, a relatively small percentage return

          5  to shelter.  So we can start with that.  We think

          6  that we have crafted the most substantial and

          7  generous work incentive local subsidy program ever.

          8  And we think many people will do very very well

          9  after a year, more after two years, some will need

         10  support beyond that and, therefore the HomeBase

         11  aftercare support.  Can we tell you specifically

         12  there's this matrix that you work through to get to

         13  success?  No, that will vary I think from family to

         14  family.  Can we give you some more kind of general

         15  background with respect to how some of our thinking

         16  has evolved and been created?  We can, and I think

         17  we'll be happy to provide that to the Committee.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right

         19  we're going to just finish with a couple of quick

         20  questions.  Folks in HSP now, just clearly a group

         21  hanging out there in this discussion.  What's the

         22  plan?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  We expect to be

         24  sending folks that are out on HSP now a letter

         25  within the next several weeks.  We still have a
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          2  little bit of internal work to do on exactly what

          3  the components of that letter will be, but our best

          4  thinking at this point is that folks that are out on

          5  HSP will have the opportunity to continue with HSP

          6  if the choose to.  They should have the opportunity

          7  to kind of flip to Work Advantage if they choose to,

          8  and to the extent that folks out on HSP that have

          9  either the Fixed Income Advantage or the Children's

         10  Advantage criteria, that is to say that they have

         11  become disabled and have some fixed income situation

         12  they may well be able to be flipped into Fixed

         13  Income Advantage, or to the extent that they may

         14  have developed some ACS issues, and we work with ACS

         15  and they determined if they're appropriate for

         16  Children's Advantage, they should have the

         17  opportunity to move in that direction as well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, so the

         19  choice of the client which path to take.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, and

         22  someone stays in HSP, we all agree that the issues

         23  around work and incentives to work have never been

         24  thoroughly resolved in part because of the lack of

         25  State action, so in a sense that would still be
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          2  hanging out there and some of the landlord issues,

          3  but you're saying that if an individual client found

          4  that that was creating a problem in their life, at

          5  any point they could move over to Work Advantage?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  We're still

          7  working through the details of that.  Our current

          8  thinking on that is that when we send out letters we

          9  would give folks some period of time to make a

         10  decision as to whether to stay on HSP or take one of

         11  the other options and that period of time could be

         12  as long as a year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  What if you

         14  have an individual that you're newly encountering,

         15  they are eligible for Work Advantage, you offer Work

         16  Advantage, they say no.  What happens?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  A current HSP

         18  client?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  No, I'm sorry

         20  I'm switching now to a new topic, I'm sorry.  No,

         21  new person that DHS confronts for the first time.

         22  New family with a problem.  The track they would be

         23  on, not a disability or other extenuating

         24  circumstances, so the track you'd be looking at is

         25  Work Advantage.  You say here's our plan, they say
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          2  no, we can't do that, we won't do that.  What's the

          3  next step?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  We're going to

          5  work with all families that come in our system and

          6  try to help them identify the appropriate extra

          7  strategy for them.  If they don't choose and extra

          8  strategy, at some point we'll probably encourage

          9  them to be moved to a next step facility which will

         10  be a facility with lower case management ratios,

         11  higher support, little more structure with the whole

         12  objective being to provide that family with

         13  intensive level of support to help them figure out

         14  what's the right extra strategy for them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  The next step

         16  is still with the goal of having people be there as

         17  limited time as possible.

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  But it's a

         20  very intensive staffing program you're saying?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Now, flip it

         23  around, another scenario entirely.  Family that's

         24  tried Work Advantage, tried to do everything right.

         25  Some of the problems we talked about before. They're
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          2  out of options.  I think you said earlier you're not

          3  ruling out the use of a Section 8 voucher at the end

          4  of a two year line. Are you ruling out the family

          5  goes to shelter if you don't have a Section 8

          6  voucher?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  No, I would not

          8  rule it out. That would be the least desirable

          9  outcome --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  -- But no I would

         12  not rule it out.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So you're at

         14  two years, you would like to do a voucher, you don't

         15  have one, you have shelter available, you don't want

         16  to do that, any other tools at your disposal?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes, I think

         18  through HomeBase and through working with HRA

         19  there's a variety of other options available.  We

         20  have to look at the individual circumstances.  For

         21  example, somebody could be eligible for New York,

         22  New York Three, and so we would look at all the

         23  options and provide all the alternatives that may be

         24  appropriate with the least desirable alternative all

         25  the way around being a return to shelter.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And pertinent

          3  question, overall equation.  Roughly how many

          4  Section 8 vouchers under the new delineation that

          5  the Mayor announced a few months ago.  How many

          6  vouchers do you have available to you on an annual

          7  basis?

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Going forward

          9  it's hard to know. As you know the Section 8

         10  availability is somewhat uneven. But this year we

         11  have a couple thousand available to us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Two more

         13  points.  I'd like to welcome Council Member Tom

         14  White of Queens, Member of the Committee, he's just

         15  joined us.  The two other points.  One is just

         16  staying on the new plan and then one that's

         17  partially something that we talked about before.

         18  Evaluation.  You said honestly, and I appreciate it,

         19  you want to see this work, you're going to be

         20  looking for what works, what doesn't, you're going

         21  to be constantly evaluating, you're open to

         22  adjustment, et cetera.  What's your evaluation

         23  process?  When are you going to be taking your

         24  snapshot? What kind of outcomes are you looking for?

         25    Who's doing the evaluation? What can you tell us?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  We can tell you

          3  that we can give you that information sometime in

          4  the next couple of weeks.  We're finishing up

          5  negotiations with the State now as to how that

          6  evaluation will be done and what the components of

          7  that evaluation will be.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  We'd like to

          9  obviously get that in writing as soon as possible

         10  and let me particularly note our desire to

         11  understand what are the tangible outcomes that you

         12  would consider success for this program,

         13  particularly compared to HSP and predecessors.

         14                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Certainly.

         15  Certainly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Lastly, we've

         17  talked about this before, question, of the units

         18  that you now have people in with HSP, I think you

         19  could equally ask the question for any unit that was

         20  funded through Work Advantage, what are we doing

         21  going forward, in terms of inspection, reinspection,

         22  what are we doing in particular on a question of led

         23  paint, just, I know you've answered some of this

         24  before but I want to make sure we're 100 percent

         25  clear going forward with this new program how you're
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          2  approaching the inspection question and what's going

          3  to be the protocol.  What do you do if you find an

          4  apartment not to be in compliance, et cetera?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Section 8

          6  standards will be met. We've retrained all of our

          7  reviewers and inspectors, gone through the EPA led

          8  paint piece and so we're very comfortable that we'll

          9  be able to provide Section 8 quality inspections.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And if a unit

         11  does not meet that quality level it will not be

         12  subsidized through Work Advantage?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  No, it will

         14  reinspected until it does pass.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay, and the

         16  same with anybody currently in the HSP pipeline?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So anyone who

         19  continues, and in theory someone might be in HSP, if

         20  I'm hearing you correctly --

         21                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  -- Continue to

         23  be the believe that's the best option for them.

         24  They could be in it for another four years.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

                                                            93

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So, same

          3  protocol if at any point it was not meeting

          4  standards, reinspection, then you would not allow an

          5  ongoing subsidy unless it eventually passed

          6  inspection?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay. I think

          9  that does it for now.  Commissioner, Deputy

         10  Commissioner, thank you very much for your testimony

         11  as always.  We look forward to spirited follow up in

         12  the coming weeks.  I'm sorry, I lied.  Tom White has

         13  a quick question.  Let me --

         14                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Mr. Chairman, if

         15  I could just have a moment, I'll be right back.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Yes, and we're

         17  going to see if Tom Whites question refers to HRA or

         18  DHS.  All right we're going to hold for a moment

         19  here.  Let's ask Seth Diamond about his favorite

         20  baseball team.  Can you believe those Met's?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  DIAMOND:  I'm happy about that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  We'll hold for

         24  a moment.  But while I have you Deputy Commissioner,

         25  the same point, we would appreciate, we obviously
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          2  asked a lot of questions today about specifics of

          3  the effectiveness of your job placement programs.  I

          4  think the fact that Back To Work, am I right, is a

          5  relatively new program since August '06?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  DIAMOND:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I think it

          9  would be very helpful to us to see a delineation

         10  according to the type of programs.   So knowing that

         11  We Care is one type, After Work is another type, et

         12  cetera.  What had been the numbers in terms of

         13  placement for each, length of placement, anything

         14  you can tell us about average wages that people have

         15  made?  And let me ask you in the same vein, what is

         16  the latest you're tracking, is it 180 days?

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         18  DIAMOND:  Well for contractual days it's 180 days,

         19  but internally at HRA we track up to nine months and

         20  then a year for people who have been placed, not

         21  necessarily by program.  But people who have been

         22  placed to see if they are retained at nine months

         23  and a year.  That's not a contractual goal but

         24  that's an internal agency goal.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And do you
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          2  have any governing philosophy or evidence if you

          3  will that there's a certain point after which if

          4  someone has stayed consistently in a job that

          5  they're probably going to be able to continue that

          6  pattern?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  DIAMOND:  Well after the three month point it does

          9  plateau.  There's more drop- off between initial

         10  placement and three months, then three months and

         11  any of the other milestones.  So if we can get

         12  people to the three month point we do find very good

         13  retention after that.  There still excellent at

         14  three months.  I think approximately about 80

         15  percent of the people placed are retained the way we

         16  measure it, but there's not the same kind of drop

         17  every three months as there is between initial

         18  placement and three months.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So you're

         20  saying after three months you would tend to believe

         21  someone's on a consistent path?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         23  DIAMOND:  Yes, there is drop- off as you have

         24  further retention milestones.  But most people who

         25  make it to three months are able to retain the job
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          2  beyond that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO;  So again, just

          4  to clarify, that would be very helpful to have

          5  delineated for us what percentage make it to each

          6  level so that we get a sense of what's theoretically

          7  the best level of achievement you can make.  Because

          8  I think it's back to this whole question about

          9  whether Work Advantage can fulfill its goals is what

         10  percentage of people honestly can make it long term

         11  based on your experience and then obviously seeing

         12  what these additional inputs would mean.  Food

         13  stamps for me being one that's particularly obvious

         14  to make a very profound effect.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DIAMOND:  And just as we said before, just because

         17  somebody loses their job though, at the initial

         18  period doesn't mean that Work Advantage is a

         19  failure, they're out of Work Advantage.  There's an

         20  opportunity to replace them as quickly as possible.

         21  Again, the rent is paid, they made be off public

         22  assistance but if they need assistance they can come

         23  back and apply and we can give them the assistance

         24  they need until they're able to find another job.

         25  We expect some level of people not to be able to
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          2  keep the job, but not being able to keep the job

          3  doesn't mean Work Advantage isn't working.  It just

          4  means they're not keeping a job and we have to get

          5  them back into a job and working and on track with

          6  the program.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And I

          8  appreciate that sense of flexibility.  One other

          9  thing that would help us, Deputy Commissioner, in

         10  what you will get to us is if you could delineate

         11  the types of training that you now are investing in.

         12    I think we all have a stereotype from watching TV

         13  that everyone is getting trained in computers,

         14  whatever it may be.  But I think, you know, what

         15  appears to be the future of the City, some

         16  industries coming up and I think it would be very

         17  interesting to see what percentage of people who go

         18  in to work have been trained for what type of work

         19  and how much success correlates to the type of

         20  training.  In other words, do people who get

         21  computer skills have much greater level of success

         22  than people that are auto mechanics or whatever it

         23  may be? I think that break- out would be very

         24  helpful.

         25                 And now finally, Council Member Tom
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          2  White.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Thank you Mr.

          4  Chairman.  You might have answered this.  I was in a

          5  meeting with the EDC in preparation for my meeting

          6  tomorrow.  But under the Work Advantage program, how

          7  many families and individuals do you plan to place

          8  in permanent housing through the Work Advantage

          9  program each year?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Through the Work

         11  Advantage program, Councilman, we expect over time,

         12  once we ramp up, we expect to move about 5,000

         13  families a year.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay, do Work

         15  Advantage program recipients need to be on public

         16  assistance in order to be eligible?  To be initially

         17  eligible for that program?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  They need while

         19  in shelter to either be on public assistance or on

         20  single issue, however, once they leave shelter,

         21  within the Work Advantage program if there is some

         22  disruption to their public assistance that will not

         23  affect their rent being paid.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.  Can you

         25  guarantee that DHS will provide HomeBase with
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          2  additional resources as needed so that HomeBase can

          3  adequately serve the Work Advantage client who needs

          4  help?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  And if not,

          7  why not.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  And one final

         10  question.  Will any of DHS's new housing strategies

         11  serve domestic violence survivors?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Well I think it's

         13  true now, Councilman, as you know that there are

         14  some domestic violence survivors that are living

         15  with us in the shelter system and would be eligible

         16  for any of our programs as appropriate.  There are

         17  also the same opportunities for folks in shelter

         18  through the Advantage programs to be made available

         19  through the HRA domestic violence shelters.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay, thank

         21  you very much. Thank you very much Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you

         23  Council Member and thank you again Commissioner,

         24  Deputy Commissioner for your testimony.  We look

         25  forward to following up and we look forward to
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          2  seeing both your agencies at the budget hearing next

          3  week. Thank you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS:  Thank you.

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  DIAMOND:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Next we have a

          8  panel of Steve Banks, the Legal Aid Society, Mary

          9  Brosnahan Coalition for the Homeless and Charmaine

         10  Smith who I believe is a former HSP recipient and is

         11  going to talk about her experiences.

         12                 Thank you.  Who would like to begin.

         13  We welcome you.  Hi, good afternoon Ms. Smith.

         14                 MS. SMITH:  Good afternoon.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  We welcome

         16  your testimony.

         17                 MS. SMITH:  Thank you.

         18                 My name is Charmaine Smith, I'm here

         19  with my one year old son Devon (phonetic) today to

         20  ask both the City Council, the Department of

         21  Homeless Services and Mayor Bloomberg to reconsider

         22  his Work Advantage program and to ask that the many

         23  households that have received HSP in the past two

         24  years not be forgotten.

         25                 I have received HSP one year ago, and
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          2  shortly I will describe my experience with the

          3  program.  First, however, I'd like to say that I am

          4  pleased to hear that the City is reconsidering the

          5  HSP program, given the problems so many families

          6  like my son and I have faced.  However, I've learned

          7  that Work Advantage will only offer one years

          8  assistance to homeless families with the possibility

          9  of a second year that is not guaranteed.

         10                 I'm currently a nursing student at

         11  Hostos Community College in the Bronx.  In part

         12  because I know a college degree will help me to find

         13  work that will truly support my family.  If I were

         14  to go to work full time now and receive the Work

         15  Advantage program I would be very concerned that in

         16  one year I would not be able to earn enough to pay

         17  more than $1,000 in rent each month and provide

         18  food, clothing and other necessities for my and my

         19  family.  I previously worked as a Home Health Aide

         20  earning eight dollars an hour, however, I was not

         21  able to make ends meet and pay rent for an apartment

         22  of my own.  Given that housing is becoming more and

         23  more expensive and wages are not necessarily

         24  increasing, I do not see myself and my many other

         25  HSP recipients and families in shelters being able
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          2  to make it after receiving only one year's help.

          3  Even if I'm required to save and at the end of the

          4  first year with $6,000 in savings, as DHS as

          5  described, if I cannot afford my rent given my

          6  earnings it would only be a short period of time

          7  before I've used up my savings to help cover my

          8  rent.  I would urge DHS to reconsider the strict

          9  time limits in Work Advantage so homeless families

         10  like mine don't end up back in the shelter.

         11                 I would also remind the City Council

         12  and the Department of Homeless Services not to

         13  forget the families who were previously offered HSP.

         14    After experiencing a number of serious condition

         15  issues in my HSP apartment, nearly six months ago

         16  now, the entire ceiling of my unit started to leak

         17  water and various areas of the ceiling collapsing.

         18  My son was sleeping in his crib at the time and a

         19  piece of the ceiling fell on him, injuring his head.

         20    Later at the hospital he suffered several

         21  seizures.  I feel unsafe in the apartment and have

         22  since been looking for a new place to live, while

         23  sleeping at homes of many friends and relatives.  We

         24  are now essentially homeless again and although they

         25  may have tried, it seems DHS cannot do anything to
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          2  help us.  Unfortunately there are hundreds of

          3  families with stories just like mine who have not

          4  been offered any assistance by DHS and it seems our

          5  only option at this point is to return to shelter.

          6                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          7  testify.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

          9  much Ms. Smith, I have to ask because it sounds very

         10  very troubling, is your son well now and what has

         11  happened since?

         12                 MS. SMITH:  He hasn't had a seizure

         13  since.  He has low levels of lead in his blood and

         14  he's fine now on the outside. I'm not sure what's

         15  going to happen in the long run.  He's only one and

         16  he cannot communicate with me.  He has had several

         17  colds that I don't find to be normal.  He just keeps

         18  catching colds over and over, even though I take

         19  very well care of him, dress him warmly and give him

         20  vitamins.  Right now he has a cold.  If you noticed

         21  he was coughing in the back and I'm not sure what's

         22  going to happen in the long run.  I'm very scared.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And when you

         24  raised this to DHS, that you had had this horrible

         25  incident, what was their response?
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          2                 MS. SMITH:  DHS actually came out the

          3  next day to see the apartment.  They took

          4  photographs and HPD came as well.  I have met

          5  several times with DHS but I haven't had any

          6  assistance in finding a permanent place for him and

          7  I.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  So they didn't

          9  offer you an immediate, transfer or an immediate new

         10  apartment given what had happened?

         11                 MS. SMITH:  No sir.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  In no way?

         13                 MS. SMITH:  No.  I just recently

         14  filled out a Section 8 application with DHS, but if

         15  we had filled it out in the beginning I would have

         16  probably had it by now.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well obviously

         18  we want to work with you and you have some wonderful

         19  advocates working with you now.  We'd like to help

         20  you in any way we can.

         21                 MS. SMITH:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm very sorry

         23  that you went through that and we're all concerned

         24  for your son.

         25                 MS. SMITH:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Who would like

          3  to go next?

          4                 MS. BROSNAHAN:  Thank you Mr.

          5  Chairman, I'll be very brief.  Commissioner Hess has

          6  stated publicly that two years may not be enough for

          7  some families to become self sufficient, but this

          8  program will work for most and he indicates that

          9  those who need continuing assistance will have their

         10  savings to rely upon and can seek help from the

         11  homeless prevention units.  As you'll hear in a few

         12  minutes from Vic Bach of Community Service Society,

         13  those numbers just don't add up.  The relative

         14  meager savings will soon be depleted and our

         15  experience at the coalition indicates that it takes

         16  over six months to get approval for Section 8 from

         17  the Homeless Prevention units.  Most importantly, as

         18  you can see in our written testimony, the

         19  administrations belief that the majority of families

         20  will not need continued help after one or two year

         21  periods, flies in the face of their own research.

         22  The Vera Institutes Acclaim Study from 2004 shows

         23  that families with long term housing subsidies are

         24  the ones with dramatically lower rates of return to

         25  the shelter, as opposed to families without such
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          2  subsidies.  The Cities proposal for time limited

          3  subsidies fails to take into account its own

          4  research findings.  It ignores the realities of New

          5  York City's tight housing market and the fact that

          6  many families, including those who transition from

          7  welfare to low wage employment will need some

          8  housing assistance after two years.

          9                 Sadly the Bloomberg Administration

         10  has crafted yet another subsidy program that is one

         11  size fits all, with strict time limits and it fails

         12  to provide housing assistance for families still in

         13  need.  In essence, Mayor Bloomberg is punting,

         14  leaving an enormous problem for whomever takes his

         15  job in 2009.

         16                 What's most disturbing about this new

         17  program is that the Mayor recently announced that

         18  New York City has over 12,000 Section 8 vouchers

         19  available this calendar year, and another 10,000

         20  next year.  In addition, NYCHA makes available

         21  between 6,000 and 6,500 public housing apartments

         22  for rent each year.  We believe the City must change

         23  its current approach and instead target a

         24  significant number of the federal housing subsidies

         25  to homeless families.  Indeed as recently as 2003,
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          2  2004, such an approach resulted in significant

          3  reductions in family homelessness.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

          6  much Ms. Brosnahan.  I just want to also thank you,

          7  you've really helped this Committee to think about

          8  this particular new proposal by the Administration

          9  and to help us look at some of the challenges.  And

         10  as you heard, I think there's kind of giddy optimism

         11  with which the program is described and some real

         12  tough questions have to be asked about it and as we

         13  watch very carefully as it develops.  So I thank you

         14  for having helped us with that.

         15                 And now, last but not least, Steve

         16  Banks.

         17                 MR. BANKS:  Thank you very much.

         18                 Steven Banks, I'm an Attorney- In-

         19  Chief to the Legal Aid Society.  I can't help but

         20  notice Commissioner Hess's enthusiasm and optimism

         21  and as someone who is an optimist by nature, I

         22  certainly appreciate it.  But I also remember

         23  testifying here before this Committee on December 1,

         24  2004, together with Mary Brosnahan we laid out a

         25  number of concerns about the HSP program. And I
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          2  don't think either of us want to be in the role of

          3  Cassandra. I know that there was sort of an

          4  undercurrent, the critics will come after us and

          5  therefore, we have to head them off at the pass. No

          6  one would like to see them succeed more than us,

          7  frankly, but I think that the experience of HSP is a

          8  pretty sobering one when we consider what is

          9  essentially experimentation with social policy here.

         10  There was testimony by City officials on December 1,

         11  2004, that said we have to take away the prior

         12  priority for public housing referrals and the prior

         13  priority for Section 8 referrals because that will

         14  have an impact on the numbers of families coming

         15  into the system.  That if we no longer have these

         16  referral programs, people won't be coming to the

         17  shelter system in order to get New York City Housing

         18  Authority placements or Section 8 referrals.  That

         19  was presented very clearly to this Committee in

         20  2004.

         21                 What was seen since 2004, the

         22  Referral program has been taken away for Housing

         23  Authority Apartments, the Section 8 Referral program

         24  has been taken away for families in the shelter

         25  system and in fact the numbers of families system
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          2  have actually increased.  So with no empirical

          3  evidence of taking away the referral programs having

          4  a positive impact that was done and now I think

          5  we're continuing to pay that price.  I mean the Koch

          6  Administration, the Giuliani Administration, the

          7  Dinkins Administration, all three Administrations

          8  used a combination of prevention strategies,

          9  sheltering strategies and referrals to public

         10  housing and to Section 8, as part of the way to

         11  manage homelessness.  For whatever reason the

         12  current Administration has decided not to do that

         13  and two and a half years ago announced the HSP

         14  program.  Now two and a half years later essentially

         15  saying it doesn't work, it's coming back and

         16  proposing a new program.  Some of the things we said

         17  was that by failing to have federal housing quality

         18  standards as part of the basic core of the program,

         19  you'd end up with families being sent to substandard

         20  apartments.  And we were told no that wasn't going

         21  to happen and that we were simply naysayers and I

         22  think the Chair was probably put in that category

         23  too, and yet, two and a half years later we've got

         24  families living under the situation that Charmaine

         25  has described, where the City conceding and
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          2  correspondence via the Legal Aid Society in the

          3  context of litigation that hundreds of families

          4  ended up in apartments with lead hazards in them and

          5  some children as we know now have had elevated blood

          6  lead levels.  That's the price of experimentation

          7  without having some firm understand of what the

          8  program is going to be to actually operate under.

          9  We also had testimony here, I think your questions

         10  two and a half years ago were focused on the HSP

         11  program would be a disincentive to work. And you

         12  were told no it wouldn't be a disincentive to work

         13  and we were told no it wouldn't be a disincentive to

         14  work, and now again, we have a new program that's

         15  supposed to be an antidote to HSP. There was a lot

         16  of discussion at that hearing about the fact that

         17  five years was too little in the face of the housing

         18  market in 2004, and the economics in terms of the

         19  labor market in 2004.  And now here we are several

         20  years later, and we know from studies that have been

         21  done, that between 2002 and 2005, median income

         22  decreased in the City by 6.3 percent but median

         23  rents went up by 8.3 percent. So that's the

         24  background that this new program is being presented

         25  to you.
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          2                 One group of homeless families has

          3  not been mentioned.  We've heard about the special

          4  needs homeless families, domestic violence

          5  survivors, ACS, families with child welfare cases,

          6  we've also heard about families that were on so

          7  called fixed income people receiving disability

          8  payments, and we've heard about people who are

          9  working a minimum of 20 hours, ineligible for public

         10  assistance or as a one- shot.  But there's been no

         11  discussion about the people that aren't working for

         12  20 hours.  That are simply homeless families who are

         13  stuck in shelter who can't find work, what is

         14  available to them?  There not really eligible for

         15  Work Advantage because they're not eligible under

         16  the criteria of requiring 20 hours of work a week.

         17  So when all is said and done, there's a real concern

         18  about how the numbers or referrals that need to be

         19  made out of the shelter system are actually going to

         20  be made. If we've learned one thing over the last

         21  number of years is in order to operate the shelter

         22  system there has to be a certain number of referrals

         23  out in order to deal with the numbers of people

         24  coming in if prevention isn't going to reduce those

         25  numbers dramatically, and we haven't seen prevention
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          2  reducing those numbers dramatically, in fact, as I

          3  said over the last two and a half years the numbers

          4  have gone up.  So, there's a problem that the focus

          5  is only on people who are able to find work or only

          6  on people in certain special needs categories as

          7  opposed to the large numbers of homeless families,

          8  and I think Deputy Commissioner Diamond was pretty

          9  candid in terms of what the numbers were, 7,000

         10  versus 1,400, and don't forget that's not just 7,000

         11  as a static number, that's the number of people that

         12  are passing through the system, so it's actually

         13  significantly less than the 20 percent of the 1,400

         14  versus 7,000 number.  So there are real problems

         15  here in terms of the operation of this program.

         16                 With all the talk about a five year

         17  time limit to not be sufficient to now have a

         18  program that says it's a one year time limit, or

         19  maybe a two year time limit, or maybe longer if it

         20  doesn't quite work out.  Doesn't quite give you a

         21  lot of confidence if you're a homeless family with

         22  children moving in to such an apartment when part of

         23  the description of the program is if it doesn't work

         24  out that it might be longer, but we can't really say

         25  what it is.  I mean there are children at stake here
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          2  and I think that there's a requirement for

          3  government to be a little bit more precise and make

          4  decisions based upon real evidence that's going to

          5  show that it's going to work.

          6                 And then we're also told that one of

          7  the key features is the savings program.  That it's

          8  one of the most generous programs in the Country.

          9  There's a savings component in it.  And then there's

         10  testimony from Deputy Commissioner Diamond that in

         11  fact the waivers to make that savers program work

         12  for people receiving food stamps or Medicaid or

         13  other government benefits, actually haven't been

         14  granted yet.  So there's the key features of the

         15  savings but yet the savings isn't actually something

         16  that's not going to have an adverse impact on

         17  families with children. Again, it's experimentation

         18  and there are children whose lives and well being

         19  are really at stake here.

         20                 When you also do the math, at looking

         21  at how much money someone who's going to earn making

         22  minimum wage, let's not forget that if you do the

         23  math, on a 35 hour work week, gross income of $7.25

         24  an hour comes out to barely more than $1,000.  And

         25  the rent for a family of three is supposed to be
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          2  $1,070 a month. So maybe the first year,

          3  miraculously you'll be able to save some of that

          4  money, and miraculously you'll be able to get to the

          5  end of the first year and then at the end of the

          6  first year you're going to be in a position of on

          7  that minimum wage income having to pay $1,070.  And

          8  you may or may not be able to have your savings, and

          9  even if you had your savings, that might get you

         10  through a second year.  But the minimum wage is a

         11  reality that our clients deal with day in and day

         12  out.  Not the sense that they're going to get into

         13  work that's going to able to make it affordable to

         14  pay that, which is unaffordable.  And that's the

         15  core underlying assumption that operates with this

         16  program.

         17                 Last, but not least, you asked about

         18  quality standards.  For the families that are in

         19  the, so called, special needs categories, those that

         20  are on fixed income disability benefits or they have

         21  child welfare case, or a domestic violence survivor

         22  family, for those families they're going to get the

         23  full package of Section 8 occupancy standards and

         24  Section 8 physical standards, in terms of the

         25  numbers of people that are going to be in
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          2  apartments, but also what the physical conditions

          3  look like. For the other families, who are not in

          4  the special needs categories, they're only going to

          5  have inspections as to what the physical conditions

          6  look like and there won't be the occupancy

          7  standards.  So now there's an incentive to overcrowd

          8  the apartment because there won't be the Section 8

          9  limitations on how many people per room can be put

         10  into the apartment.  It's sort of in the fine print

         11  of the program that when you look through it, it

         12  talks about there will be Section 8 inspections, so

         13  one would conclude that you're going to be applying

         14  Section 8 occupancy standards, but in fact,

         15  occupancy standards will only be applied to the

         16  special needs cases, not to those families that are

         17  participating in the Work Advantage program itself,

         18  the core program.

         19                 So, where does all this lead us?  The

         20  Council has tremendous oversight role that you've

         21  played over the years.  This is clearly a moment

         22  where there needs to be that role played to ensure

         23  that we don't go through another two and a half

         24  years of another program with all the potential

         25  flaws that the first program have, replaying itself

                                                            116

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  and children suffering.  So we would ask the Council

          3  to focus very directly on the restoration of the

          4  priority referral program to the Housing Authority

          5  apartments.  As Mary said the 6,500 apartments come

          6  available a year, the City for years allocated 1,800

          7  of those apartments to homeless families with

          8  children as part of its way to reduce homelessness

          9  and reduce the great cost of shelter.  A the same

         10  time, there are significant numbers of Section 8

         11  vouchers that are available to the City that could

         12  be used to expeditiously relocate families out of

         13  the shelter system and to make it possible for

         14  people to succeed at work and maintain their housing

         15  at the same time.

         16                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         17  testify.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

         19  much and I hope Steve that you will someday write

         20  about this particular episode, maybe it will be a

         21  chapter in your book, but boy, maybe we don't like

         22  to say I told you so, but this was certainly one

         23  where the criticisms that you, and Mary and some of

         24  the others issued back at the time of the

         25  announcement of HSP.  Unfortunately, so much of the
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          2  criticism came true and it's very interesting, you

          3  focused on the whole question of the quality

          4  standards and we sometimes forget that that came on

          5  the heels of all of the work that you and others did

          6  on scattered site.  And the fact that this was not

          7  in isolation, that we were not dealing with, to say

          8  the least the whole backup of the lead paint

          9  legislation in the Council.  There's a lot going on

         10  that would have suggested a very cautious and

         11  proactive approach to this new program and how you

         12  deal with quality standards and obviously that

         13  didn't happen.  So I think your point about social

         14  engineering is a good one, that we all have to

         15  remember as critics that we are helping restrain, in

         16  effect, folks in government who may be well

         17  intentioned but often believe their own press

         18  releases, believe the own studies, believe their own

         19  theories and need to look at reality.  And I think

         20  that, at least we are asking all of us the right

         21  questions at the outset of Work Advantage.  I think

         22  you're right, we're going to need very close and

         23  constant oversight to make sure this doesn't repeat

         24  some of those same bad patterns, and thank you very

         25  much for your analysis.
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          2                 Thank you this panel, thank you again

          3  Ms. Smith, in particular, we do look forward to

          4  helping you in any way we can, Molly Murphy and

          5  Freya Riel from my staff will follow- up with you

          6  and with Steve and Mary and see how we can help.

          7                 MR. BANKS:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right our

          9  final panel. Heidi Siegfried of Partnership for the

         10  Homeless, Victor Bach of Community Service Society,

         11  and Susan Lob of Battered Women's Resource Center.

         12                 Sure.  Go ahead up.

         13                 Okay, who would like to begin.

         14                 MR. BACH:  My name is Victor Bach,

         15  I'm with the Community Service Society.  Thank you

         16  for the opportunity to comment on the Work Advantage

         17  Program.  As you know, the Community Service

         18  Society, which I represent, strongly supports the

         19  idea of work as a major path through and out of

         20  poverty.  And to the extent that the Work Advantage

         21  program will really succeed at promoting stable

         22  decent housing for the formerly homeless and

         23  encouraging self- sufficiency through work, that

         24  would be great.  But we believe there are serious

         25  problems over the long- term as has been indicated
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          2  already.  The issue is whether the Work Advantage

          3  model really takes into account the realities of the

          4  low- wage labor market and the realities of the

          5  rental market.

          6                 Under the short one to two year time

          7  limit on Work Advantage benefits, even the most

          8  conscientious working family will have a tough time

          9  surviving the rent affordability cliff it faces once

         10  Work Advantage is over in a year or two.  Rough

         11  calculations suggest that a family paying $1,070 in

         12  monthly rent will initially be laying out $264 a

         13  month to cover the $50 rent payment plus up to 20

         14  percent of rent at savings and if they do that then

         15  the rent burden during that first year of Work

         16  Advantage will be a descent 25 percent of income

         17  spent on rent.  That's by any definition, federal or

         18  local, an affordable rent.  So that what we have

         19  over the short- term in Work Advantage is a kind of

         20  shot of adrenaline over a very short period of time

         21  that will help a person in a crisis.  The question

         22  is whether it will promote their health over the

         23  long time.  Now if the benefits end after a year,

         24  even if the worker gets a healthy raise making

         25  optimistic assumptions, assuming the worker does
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          2  manage to work full time, the family will face a

          3  callosal rent burden of about 80 percent of income

          4  in the first year after the Work Advantage program.

          5  Assuming that he is a full time worker making a

          6  $15,000 minimum wage, that's the average for a

          7  counter worker in a coffee shop or a home health

          8  aide.  If that person works full time and gets a

          9  healthy raise, they will still, once Work Advantage

         10  is over, be paying 80 percent of income.  If they

         11  apply all of their $6,000 Work Advantage savings to

         12  help meet that huge rent burden, they will still be

         13  paying a hefty 60 percent of income for their

         14  housing.  Now if the worker manages to be for

         15  instance a security guard with an average annual

         16  income full time of about 19,000, once Work

         17  Advantage ends, the family will face a rent burden

         18  of 71 percent of their income, enormous rent burden,

         19  or if the full savings are applied to meet the rent,

         20  the rent burden will be 50 percent.

         21                 The question is, what will happen

         22  over the longer term once Work Advantage is over?

         23  Whether it will extend family impoverishment and

         24  homelessness over the long term and set people on

         25  the path to self sufficiency.  It certainly doesn't
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          2  look like over the long- term they're incentives

          3  that will keep the housing and work situation

          4  stable.  We would suggest that rather than put

          5  families through the Work Advantage moves, the City

          6  should reconsider again, as has already been

          7  suggested, opening up public housing and Section 8

          8  vouchers to homeless families in the shelter system.

          9    These are time tested programs, long term remedies

         10  for homelessness that keep housing affordable to low

         11  income working families who are struggling their way

         12  out of poverty.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Thank you very

         15  much.  We very much appreciate your analysis.  Real

         16  world analysis may I say.

         17                 Who would like to go next?

         18                 MS. SIEGFRIED:  Okay, hi, I'm Heidi

         19  Siegfried, I'm the Supervising Attorney at

         20  Partnership for the Homeless and we run a family

         21  resource center in East New York which gets one of

         22  the aftercare contracts from the State, so we've

         23  been dealing with these HSP clients for quite a few

         24  years now.

         25                 Certainly, I mean I have to say,
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          2  detaching advantage programs from having an open

          3  public assistance case is great.  I think HRA, the

          4  concept of changing and sending a notice out before

          5  cutting off your benefits seems to be foreign to

          6  them and the first time we hear about it is when

          7  they're in eviction proceedings, and our case

          8  managers have basically just been trying to request

          9  their hearings, get assistance back and fending

         10  these things off.  So we're really happy about that.

         11

         12                 The Fixed Income Advantage program

         13  looks very good too and our understanding, they

         14  briefed us on this a week ago today, that's the

         15  first we tried to get any details about it.  They

         16  are going to be referring the Fixed Income people to

         17  us, which means that we will be do outreach to try

         18  to contact them so it won't be like the other people

         19  who are just get a number for HomeBase and try to

         20  contact HomeBase.  We have to affirmatively reach

         21  out to the Fixed Income Advantage programs because I

         22  guess they do think that the Section 8 application

         23  process could be hard and they really want those

         24  applications to be successful.

         25                 I thought it was interesting to hear
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          2  from Steve, I thought that they apartment size, the

          3  occupancy standards were going to apply to both

          4  programs and I didn't catch it in the limited

          5  information that we've gotten from them.  We've seen

          6  a lot of overcrowding and to the extent that can be

          7  reduced, that's great.  And of course the Section 8

          8  inspection standards will be great too.  We're a

          9  little bit worried about the conversions because

         10  most of the landlords are unwilling to put any

         11  money, you know sometimes they just really don't

         12  have any money to put into these apartments and so

         13  that's never going to pass reinspection, so how will

         14  somebody convert to the new Work Advantage program

         15  if they're working 20 hours a week.  You know,

         16  they've told us details tend to be worked out quite

         17  a bit, but of course the main problem that everybody

         18  is focusing on is what happens at the end of the

         19  second year.  And we did ask them what are the

         20  criteria for continuing on to the second year and of

         21  course we'd like the criteria to be that they're

         22  paying more than 30 percent of their income for

         23  rent, but I don't think that's going to be the

         24  criteria. So, when we look at our families, and I've

         25  attached charts to kind of try to show what happens
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          2  to different people at different income levels, most

          3  of the people I've been representing in evictions

          4  that have had their earned wrongly budgeted in by

          5  HRA, had been making $7.50 an hour.  And we've seen

          6  a big problem with people getting 35 hours a week.

          7  There's a lot of fluctuation.  But for somebody who

          8  is making $7.50 an hour, well let me now turn to my

          9  chart because it's, well these charts, Trudy Wenrich

         10  (phonetic) at the Fiscal Policy Institute had been

         11  working up some stuff on the earned income tax

         12  credits and so for me she added the New York City

         13  earned income tax credit and taxes to kind of show

         14  what would happen to somebody after taxes.  So at

         15  $7.50 an hour they're going to be $20 short in their

         16  paycheck, you know after the FICA's taken out to

         17  have enough money to pay the rent of $1,070.  Now

         18  you can get your earned income tax credit as an

         19  advance in your paycheck, but it's only like $100 to

         20  $130 dollars a month, so that person is going to be

         21  left with $110 in cash to meet their needs, and they

         22  will continue to get food stamps of $240 a month.

         23  And the other interesting thing is that if they had

         24  remained on public assistance, their public

         25  assistance would be supplementing an income like
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          2  this too.  But they haven't been on public

          3  assistance. They've been on this other program. So

          4  they're not going to be eligible for public

          5  assistance like they would be if they had continued

          6  on public assistance.  And they won't have continued

          7  on public assistance because their shelter allowance

          8  became $50 a month.  So their earned income would

          9  have made them ineligible. This is all very

         10  complicated, but, and then just if we skip to the

         11  person who is making $10 and hour, 35 hours a week,

         12  they're going to have $330 dollars left after paying

         13  more than 70 percent of their income in rent and

         14  their going to continue to be eligible for food

         15  stamps also.  So, we just think that the Work

         16  Advantage program is faulting people for having to

         17  deal with this labor market and certainly if we end

         18  up being a HomeBase contractor, it's possible that

         19  we may be, we're going to have to try to get people

         20  into training programs that can get them up to $10

         21  or more an hour. But I don't know how they're going

         22  to be able to do that while they're working, well

         23  they might be able to do it while they're working 20

         24  hours a week.  It's going to be hard when they're

         25  working 35 hours a week.
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          2                 So this is going to be a struggle and

          3  you know, we're certainly going to try to make it

          4  work, but I think ultimately, and I think he's

          5  saying that the HomeBase programs are going to be

          6  able to have some decision making capability about

          7  who gets a Section 8 voucher, that's really scary to

          8  me.  You know Section 8.  I keep asking, aren't they

          9  filing an amended plan with the fed's to cover all

         10  the unique circumstances when they give out these

         11  vouchers?  But the idea that there's a lack of

         12  criteria and it gets so individualized, there's a

         13  potential for abuse and that just worries me.

         14                 So that's all I have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

         16  much.  Ms. Lob.

         17                 MS. LOB:  Hi, thanks so much for

         18  giving me the opportunity.  I'm Susan Lob, I'm the

         19  Director of the Battered Women's Resource Center and

         20  we have one project called The Voices of Women

         21  Organizing Project, which trains and supports

         22  survivors of domestic violence so that they can be

         23  involved in shaping policy and leading efforts to

         24  end violence in our communities.

         25                 So our members have talked a lot
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          2  about problems about HSP and we testified also two

          3  and a half years ago about the problems and we're

          4  one of those people who can say told you so like

          5  everybody else, but I really don't want to be back

          6  here in two and a half years saying the same thing,

          7  and I know you don't either. We're really concerned.

          8    I don't know why Steve Banks kept including

          9  battered women in special needs population because

         10  they're not mentioned anyplace in the plan at all

         11  and it's really very disturbing and very scary.

         12  Battered women, I was just with you on the steps

         13  earlier, battered women don't leave because there's

         14  no housing.  It's really lifesaving for them and

         15  this plan totally does not work for battered women.

         16  We were complaining before that five years is not

         17  enough time for a woman to get back on her feet

         18  after she's been abused by the person closest to her

         19  and her children are traumatized and she's now in

         20  court fighting for custody and she probably had to

         21  quit her job both to get into a domestic violence

         22  shelter to begin with, or for safety reasons. And so

         23  now she's given a year to, actually she needs to

         24  find a job right away for 20 hours a week in order

         25  to be eligible because they're not considered a
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          2  special needs population.  And so the question is,

          3  how is a woman who has only 135 in a DV shelter, you

          4  know trying to find an apartment, trying to heal

          5  from major abuse and trauma, trying to take care of

          6  her children, trying to go back and forth to court,

          7  and still has to come up with 20 hours a week of

          8  work?  It's really not going to happen and it's

          9  going to really change the way shelters do their

         10  work as well.  I mean, one of the things that's

         11  happened is after Section 8 was cut so drastically

         12  and HSP was started, we saw a tremendous decrease in

         13  the amount of calls to the domestic violence hot

         14  line.  And that's because women new that there was

         15  really no point in leaving because they were only

         16  going to end up back with their batterers, which

         17  usually puts them in more danger.  And shelters for

         18  the first time have vacancies.  The first time in a

         19  decade the shelters are not full. And what they're

         20  seeing is women who wait until their much more hurt,

         21  they're coming in with bruises in a way that they

         22  haven't been for the last ten years and they're

         23  using shelters as a weigh station because they don't

         24  think of it anymore as a permanent way to leave.  So

         25  they're coming in and then going back to their
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          2  abuser and then they're coming again when they're

          3  really in danger.  And that really sets our work

          4  back ten, twenty years, and it's really disturbing.

          5                 In addition, I would bet that HRA

          6  would say that battered women have a priority for

          7  Section 8 and we've been dealing with NYCHA about

          8  this for years, the way that a battered women gets a

          9  priority status for Section 8, she needs two police

         10  reports or to have been hospitalized, and that

         11  leaves out lots of women who don't call the police

         12  for whatever reason, for their own safety or afraid

         13  to, or don't wait for two major incidents.  They

         14  want to leave after the first major incident which

         15  is something we've been working with women to do and

         16  now we're telling them, no, you can't get housing

         17  unless you've been there and its risen to a very

         18  high level of abuse twice.

         19                 The other issue is that battered

         20  women fall under HRA and this program is really

         21  administered by DHS.  And there is no parity between

         22  HRA and DHS and one of the big issues is that HRA is

         23  not hiring extra staff in order to do any of this

         24  either aftercare work or get women in the program to

         25  begin with, so that really is going to be a major
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          2  concern.  The other thing is, the aftercare that

          3  they're talking about, they're not talking about

          4  aftercare for battered women.  HomeBase has nobody

          5  on staff that's specialized in understanding

          6  domestic violence and what we're worried about is

          7  that whole prevention piece, when people show up at

          8  homeless shelters, to me sounds like we're going to

          9  talk people out of coming into shelter and we're

         10  going to try to figure out where they can go.  Well

         11  for battered women that can be very dangerous.

         12  Where they can go, often is telling them to go back

         13  to their abuser or having them stay with relative

         14  which may not be safe because their abuser knows

         15  where they are.

         16                 The other thing I need to say, is

         17  when we talk about Section 8 level inspections, I

         18  remember complaining about Section 8 level

         19  inspections.  We have members who have been in

         20  Section 8 housing that had no heat all winter, that

         21  had rats, that had ceilings that fell down just like

         22  that young woman described.  I feel that now we're

         23  begging for that level of inspection but just a

         24  couple of years ago we were complaining about that

         25  level of inspection and it's hard to sit here and
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          2  hear the City claim that as that's wow, we're going

          3  to have Section -- doesn't do it for me.

          4                 The other question is where are these

          5  jobs and what about daycare which is a really big

          6  issue for single mothers and there's no talk about

          7  an increase in daycare, there's no provisions for

          8  that.  I'm not sure how they think single mothers --

          9  one of the recent studies looked at who was

         10  homeless.  It was done by, I'm sorry, it was done by

         11  the Institute for Children in Poverty, and they

         12  found that 45 percent were single mothers 26 years

         13  of age or younger with one child.  And of those, 20

         14  percent said they became homeless because of

         15  domestic violence.  And that's not the DV shelters.

         16  That's in the regular homeless HRA shelters.  And so

         17  there really has been no provision at all for a

         18  population that is incredibly vulnerable and it's

         19  really quite disturbing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well I want to

         21  thank you for that testimony, especially because you

         22  are raising a very good question.  I think there's a

         23  lack of clarity in the presentation we heard today

         24  on what changes, if any, this means for domestic

         25  violence victims and how we are not going to fall
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          2  into that contradiction you noted of a dynamic that

          3  pushes people back towards their batterer.  So we

          4  are going to pursue this, this week coming into our

          5  budget hearing next, the 15th, Tuesday, a week from

          6  tomorrow and we will make sure we get an answer by

          7  the time of that budget hearing of how this new plan

          8  would treat victims of domestic violence.  So thank

          9  you for raising that.

         10                 Ms. Kahan, all public testimony is

         11  limited to two minutes and we are generally very

         12  scrupulous and we also are about to have to give up

         13  this room, but the clock is set to three minutes --

         14                 MS. KAHAN:  Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  -- So you get

         16  an extra minute.  It's your lucky day.  You got a

         17  clock right there, you'll watch countdown.  And go

         18  ahead.

         19                 MS. KAHAN:  Okay, my name is Judith

         20  Kahan, I am the Co- Chair of the New York City

         21  Coalition of Domestic Violence Residential Providers

         22  and need I say spoke two and a half years ago.

         23                 On Friday afternoon at 2:00 p.m., the

         24  City's Domestic Violence Shelters Providers were

         25  informed that HSP no longer exists.  At this time
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          2  the Human Resource Administration, which funds

          3  domestic violence shelters, has not yet developed

          4  application forms and procedures for our shelter

          5  residents to access the new Work Advantage program.

          6  We have not had much time to evaluate this program.

          7  We'd like to articulate three initial concerns:

          8                 Residents of domestic violence

          9  shelters are limited to a stay of 135 days.  Women

         10  and children who are coming to the end of their stay

         11  and who have located HSP apartments but have not

         12  submitted their lease packets to HRA, will not be

         13  able to obtain these apartments.  HSP has ended, yet

         14  the Work Advantage Program has not begun.  We're

         15  concerned that most of the families currently in our

         16  facilities will not be able to obtain employment and

         17  locate an apartment before their length of stay is

         18  up.  Additionally, our programs have been focused on

         19  providing services to assist our families in healing

         20  from the trauma of domestic violence.  The intensive

         21  services we provide are mandated by New York State

         22  Social Service Law.  Although our families can and

         23  do become self sufficient, we do not believe it is

         24  practical to expect that they will receive

         25  counseling, deal with legal issues, become employed
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          2  and locate an apartment with 130 day length of stay.

          3

          4                 Daycare.  We know that many daycare

          5  slots have been defended during the past year.  The

          6  majority of our residents have small children.  We

          7  are concerned that women will not be able to locate

          8  daycare and, therefore, will not be able to work

          9  which will leave them ineligible for this program.

         10                 Finally, we have historically

         11  provided domestic violence shelters to many

         12  undocumented women.  Many of these women have been

         13  able to obtain status through violence against women

         14  applications.  While waiting for status, these

         15  families have been able to obtain housing because

         16  their children are citizens.  Under this new

         17  program, these families will not be able to access

         18  housing.  For safety reasons, domestic violence

         19  shelters are mandated by law to use post office box

         20  addresses, both for the program and for their

         21  residence.  This new program requires that women

         22  obtain a savings account.  We're concerned that they

         23  will be unable to establish this with a post office

         24  box address.

         25                 That's as fast as I could go.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Your timing is

          3  impeccable.

          4                 Let me say a couple of things.  First

          5  of all we'd like a copy of your testimony so we can

          6  follow- up on those questions.  We again want to use

          7  this one week until the budget hearing to try to get

          8  answers.  I appreciate, I think your concerns also

          9  refer to a lot of areas that have not been answered

         10  yet by DHS.  I would just say one thing, I heard

         11  today's testimony to say that the program for better

         12  for worse has begun.  I'm just saying, I'm making a

         13  statement, my interpretation of that --

         14                 MS. KAHAN:  Maybe in DHS but not HRA.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Right, right,

         16  in DHS.  And I also heard a type of answer of how

         17  HSP continues, although I agree with you, there's a

         18  lot of grey in the hand- off there.  But we would

         19  like to get a copy of your testimony so we can

         20  integrate those into the questions we're looking for

         21  formal answers for.  I have a feeling we're going to

         22  be looking for a lot of formal answers for a long

         23  time.

         24                 Thank you very much to this panel.

         25  Very helpful. I hope we don't end up saying I told
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          2  you so in a year or two.  And this hearing of the

          3  General Welfare Committee is now adjourned.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 4:32 p.m.)

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            137

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )
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